L L] L] - - *

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

- - - . - L] - * - L] * *

A Reporting SEﬂ’ICE for Envzmnmenr and Development Negerma‘mns

Vol. 12 No. 55

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

11 August 1997

REPORT OF THE MEETINGS OF THE
SUBSIDIARY BODIES TO THE FRAMEWORK
CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE
28 JULY -7 AUGUST 1997

Thesubsidiary bodiesto the Framework Convention on Climate
Change (FCCC) met from 28 July - 7 August 1997 at the Hotel
Maritim in Bonn, Germany. A total of 145 Partiesand Observer States
participated in the session, aswell as 691 representatives from NGOs
and the media. The seventh session of the Ad Hoc Group on the Berlin
Mandate (AGBM-7) further streamlined the negotiating text for a
protocol or another legal instrument. The Subsidiary Body for Imple-
mentation (SBI-6) reached agreement on arrangementsfor intergov-
ernmental meetings and the programme budget, but will haveto
further discussthe financial mechanism and national communications
at its next meeting.

Discussionsin the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technolog-
ical Advice (SBSTA-6) centered on methodol ogical issues, such as
methodsfor inventories and projections of greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions. SBSTA also considered technology transfer and activities
implemented jointly (AlJ). A joint SBI/SBSTA contact group
produced adecision for adoption at COP-3 on the division of labor
between the two groups. Thefifth session of the Ad Hoc Group on
Article 13 (AG13-5) continued itsreview of proposalsfor amultilat-
eral consultative process (MCP).

ABRIEF HISTORY OF THE FCCC

COP-1

Thefirst meeting of the Conference of the Partiesto the FCCC
(COP-1) took placein Berlinfrom 28 March - 7 April 1995. Delegates
reached agreement on what many believed to be the central issue
before COP-1 - adequacy of commitments. The result was amandate
tolaunch aprocesstoward appropriate action for the period beyond the
year 2000, including strengthening of the commitments of devel oped
countries. Del egates al so reached agreement on anumber of other
important issuesincluding: the establishment of apilot phase for
implementation of joint projects; thelocation of the Permanent
Secretariat in Bonn, Germany; the budget for the Secretariat; finan-
cial procedures; and the establishment of the subsidiary bodies. Dele-
gates, however, did not reach consensus on the rules of procedure.
Thiscritical issue, including adecision on the voting rulesand the
composition of the Bureau, was deferred until COP-2.

AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN MANDATE (AGBM):
COP-1 established an open-ended Ad Hoc Group on the Berlin
Mandate (AGBM) to begin aprocessto enableit to take appropriate
action for the period beyond 2000, including the strengthening of the
commitments of Annex | Partiesthrough the adoption of aprotocol
or another legal instrument. At AGBM-1, held in Genevafrom 21-25
August 1995, del egates considered several issues, including an anal-
ysisand assessment to identify possible policies and measuresfor
Annex | Partiesand requests for inputsto subsequent sessions. At

AGBM-2, which was held in Genevafrom 30 October - 3 November
1995, delegates heard new ideasfor the structure and form of a
possible protocol.

At AGBM-3, held in Genevafrom 5-8 March 1996, del egates
heard anumber of specific proposalson new commitmentsfor Annex |
Parties, including atwo-phase CO2 emissions reduction target
proposed by Germany. They also discussed how Annex | countries
might distribute or share new commitments, and whether those should
taketheform of an amendment or protocol. AGBM-4, held from 8-19
July 1996 in Geneva, completed itsin-depth analyses of thelikely
elements of aprotocol or other legal instrument, and appeared ready to
move forward on the preparation of anegotiating text at its next
session.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNO-
LOGICAL ADVICE (SBSTA): SBSTA wasestablished by COP-1to
link: scientific, technical and technological assessments; information
provided by competent international bodies; and the policy-oriented
needs of the COP. At SBSTA-1, held in Genevafrom 28-30 August
1995, del egates confronted technically and politically complex 1ssues
including: scientific assessments, national communicationsand AlJ
under the pilot phase. Among the more contentiousissueswere defini-
tion of SBSTA' srelationship with the I ntergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (IPCC), theterms of reference and composition of the
technical advisory panels on technol ogies and methodologies (TAPs)
and the elaboration of guidelinesfor national communicationsfrom
non-Annex | Parties.

SBSTA-2, held in Genevafrom 27 February-4 March 1996,
considered the IPCC’ s Second Assessment Report (SAR) and the
Technical Advisory Panels (TAPs) and could not yet agree on how to
absorb or respond to scientific predictions of climate change. Although
initial discussions gave theimpression that SBSTA-2 would greet the
IPCC’ spredictionswith lessresistance than in previous FCCC negoti-
ations, oil producers and other developing countries ultimately
blocked consensus on specific conclusions about the SAR. Weekend
negotiationsresulted in afragile agreement on language defining the
divergence of opinion.

IN THIS ISSUE

Brief History Of theFCCC ------------------ 1
AdHoc GroupontheBerlinMandate ----------- 2
Subsidiary Body for Implementation- - - --------- 7
Subsidiary Body for Scientific and

Technological Advice---------------------- 9
AdHoc GrouponArticle13----------------- 11
A Brief Analysisof theAGBM - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 12
Thingsto Look For intheIntersessional Period - - - - 13

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin <enb@iisd.org> iswritten and edited by Paola Bettelli <paobe@sprynet.com>, Chad Carpenter, LL.M. <chadc@iisd.org>, Peter
Doran <PF.Doran@uilst.ac.uk> Benjamin Simmons <bls23@columbia.edu>, and Steve Wise <swise@econet.apc.org>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>and
the Managing Editor isLangston James*“Kimo” Goree V| <kimo@iisd.org>.The sustaining donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Devel opment Cooperation, the
Government of Canada and the United States of America (through USAID). General support for the Bulletin during 1997 is provided by the Department for International
Development (DID) of the United Kingdom, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark, the European Community (DG-XI1), the German Ministry of Environment, Nature
Conservation and Nuclear Safety, the Ministries of Environment and Foreign Affairs of Austria, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the Swiss Federal Office of the|
Environment, and UNDP. The ENB can be contacted at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 11SD can be contacted at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg,
ManitobaR3B 0Y 4, Canada; tel: +1-204-958-7700; fax: +1-204-958-7710. The opinionsexpressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authorsand do not necessarily
reflect theviewsof 11SD and other funders. Excerptsfrom the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commerical publicationsonly and with appropriate academic citation.
For permissionto usethismaterial in commerical publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic versions of the ENB are sent to e-mail distribution listsand can befound on
the Linkages WWW-server at <http://www.iisd.callinkages ..




Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 2

At SBSTA-3, held from 9-16 July 1996, del egates discussed the
SAR and sent an unfinished draft decision with bracketsto the COPfor
resolution. Decisionswere adopted in conjunction with the SBI on
Communications from Annex | Parties and on Communicationsfrom
non-Annex | Parties. Progress was made on aroster of expertsand
technical panels.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR IMPLEMENTATION (SBI): The
SBI was established by the COPto assist in the review and assessment
of theimplementation of the Convention and in the preparation and
implementation of the COP’ sdecisions. SBI-1 took place from 31
August - 1 September 1995 in Geneva. The SBI addressed anumber of
issues and recommended that the COP adopt the draft Memorandum of
Understanding with the GEF asthe financial mechanism, proposing a
draft decision on thisitem to be adopted by COP-2.

At SBI-2, held in Genevafrom 27 February - 4 March 1996, dele-
gates considered in-depth reviews of national communications, and
mattersrelated to the financial mechanism. While del egates wel comed
the GEF Council’ sadoption of itsoperational strategy, many noted the
need to expedite the process of providing “full agreed costs’ for non-
Annex | communicationsor risk seriousdelay. At SBI-3, held from 9-
16 July 1996 in Geneva, differences were resolved in closed sessions,
and were considered for adoption by the open SBI session only after
consensus had been reached on: technol ogy transfer; the operating
budget of the Secretariat; the Annex to the Memorandum of Under-
standing (M OU) between the GEF Council and the COP; and national
communications from non-Annex | Parties.

AD HOC GROUP ON ARTICLE 13 (AG13): AG13wasset up
to consider the establishment of amultilateral consultative process
availableto Partiesto resolve questions on implementation. AG13-1,
held from 30-31 October 1995 in Geneva, decided to request Parties,
non-Parties, and intergovernmental and non-governmental organiza-
tionsto make written submissionsin response to aquestionnaireon a
multilateral consultative process. At AG13-2, heldin July 1996in
Geneva, participantsreceived a synthesis of responsesto aquestion-
naire on establishing an MCP under Article 13 (FCCC/AG13/1996/1)
tobe considered at the Group’ s December session. Delegates adopted a
decision extending the AG13 mandate to COP-3 and establishing a
rolein examining waysto apply an MCPto a protocol in cooperation
withthe AGBM.

COP-2

The Second Conference of the Parties (COP-2) met in Geneva
from 8-19 July 1996. More than 1500 participants from governments,
intergovernmental organi zations and NGOs participated. While many
of the more contentiousissues, such as treatment of the | PCC Second
Assessment Report (SAR), were left unresolved, COP-2 did produce
someimportant political statements. The COP concluded by noting the
“GenevaDeclaration,” which endorsesthe |PCC conclusionsand calls
for legally-binding objectivesand significant reductionsin greenhouse
gasemissions.

The Conference also saw asignificant shift in position by the US,
which for thefirst time supported alegally binding agreement to fulfill
the Berlin Mandate. However, even as Parties prepared to strengthen
commitments, COP-2 highlighted the sharpest differencesyet between
delegations. The strong declarations of support for the SAR werefar
from unanimous, suggesting the need for substantial work in future
sessions of the COP’ ssubsidiary bodies before December 1997 when
COP-3 meetsin Kyoto, Japan.

SUBSIDIARY BODY MEETINGS AFTER COP-2: The
subsidiary bodies met in Genevafrom 9-18 December 1996. AGBM-5
considered proposalsfrom 14 Parties or groups of Partiesregarding the
strengthening the commitmentsin Articles4.2(a) and (b), advancing
theimplementation of Article4.1 and possible elements of aprotocol
or another legal instrument. Del egates adopted conclusions requesting
the Secretariat to produce a“framework compilation” of proposalsfor
further consideration. At SBSTA-4, discussionswere complex and
often difficult, but delegates confirmed future cooperation with the
IPCC and agreed to apply therevised IPCC 1996 guidelinesfor
national greenhouse gas (GHG) inventories. Delegates also agreed to
further work on revisionsto the Uniform Reporting Format and meth-
odological issues pertaining to AlJ. SBI-4 finalized agreement on the
Annex to the Memorandum of Understanding (M OU) between the

Conference of the Parties (COP) and the Council of the Global Envi-
ronmental Facility (GEF). AG13-3 further elaborated positionson a
possible M CP and agreed to continue consideration at the next meeting
in February.

Three of the subsidiary bodies met in Bonn, Germany, from 25-28
February 1997. SBSTA-5 considered anumber of issues and reached
agreement on the Uniform Reporting Format, requested awork plan
for anin-depth review of second national communicationsand
requested anumber of reports on technology transfer. AG13-4 made
notable progressin further refining the function and scope of aMCP
and agreed to a*“framework compilation” that reflects areas of conver-
gence and divergence. SBI-5 discussions were complex and often
[engthy, but delegates agreed on the timetable and processfor review
of the programme budget and agreed on the FCCC input to the UN
General Assembly Special Session (UNGASS). SBI-5 could not agree
on thereview of thefinancial mechanism or the activities of the GEF.

AGBM-6 met from 3-7 March 1997 in Bonn. Delegatesfocused
deliberations on the Framework Compilation, which incorporated the
textual proposalsfrom Partiesaswell as other proposalsfor elements
of aprotocol or another legal instrument. AGBM-6 also convened
“non-groups’ to exchange views and merge different proposals.

Delegates“ streamlined” the compilation text by merging or elimi-
nating some overlapping provisionswithin the myriad of proposals
contained in the Framework Compilation and brought the process one
step, albeit asmall one, closer to fulfilling its mandate. Much of the
discussion centered on aproposal fromthe EU for al5%cutina
“basket” of greenhouse gases by the year 2010 compared to 1990
levels. Nonethel ess, other proposal s emerged in the eleventh hour,
signaling that AGBM-6, despite the hopes of many observers, had yet
to foster much progress on several fundamental points.

REPORT OF THE MEETINGS OF THE
SUBSIDIARY BODIES

The subsidiary bodiesto the Framework Convention on Climate
Change (FCCC) met from 28 July - 7 August 1997 at the Hotel
Maritim in Bonn, Germany. AGBM-7 met from 31 July - 7 August
1997. SBI-6 and SBSTA-6 met from 28-30 July and held final sessions
on 5 August. AG13-5 met from 28-30 July 1997.

AGBM-7 metinfour “non-groups,” which were closed to
observers, and deliberated at length. The non-groups considered: the
advancement of existing commitmentsunder Article4.1; policiesand
measures; quantified emission limitation and reduction objectives
(QELROs); and ingtitutions and processes. The non-groups produced
four revised textsin which all paragraphsremain open for final negoti-
ation and are not agreed.

SBI-6 metin Plenary, aswell asin anumber of contact groups, and
considered: the financial mechanism; national communications;
arrangements for intergovernmental meetings; the programme budget
and an NGO consultation mechanism. SBSTA-6 plenary sessions
discussed cooperation with international organizations, technology
transfer and AlJ. A contact group met several timesto consider meth-
odological issues. A joint SBI/SBSTA contact group considered the
division of labor between the two groups. AG13 further considered
proposalson apossiblemultilateral consultative process (M CP) during
three sessions.

AD HOC GROUP ON THE BERLIN MANDATE

PLENARY

Chair Raul Estrada-Oyuela (Argentina) opened the seventh session
of the AGBM on 31 July and noted that as COP-3 approached, he
remained optimistic despite expected difficulties. He noted that the G-
7+1 meeting in Denver and UNGA SS demonstrated new interest in
climate change. He pointed out that despite some criticism of the scope
of the Berlin Mandate, AGBM is not competent to changeit. He noted
that under the FCCC, devel oped countries committed themselvesto
takethelead in reducing emissions, and not until this occurred could
developing countries assume greater responsibilities. He acknow!-



Page 3

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

edged progresstoward an agreement, and pointed to the EU commit-
ment and proposal as astep forward. He noted that two Parties’ target
definitionswould be crucial.

FCCC Executive Secretary Michael Zammit-Cutgjar indicated
that, at Kyoto he expected a clear agreement on the understanding of
Annex | country commitments under the FCCC. The result from
Kyoto should be a“strong punch” against “ businessasusual.” It
should send asignal to the real economic actorsthat thingswould
changein away that iscompatible both with their interests and with
sustainable devel opment. Although optimistic, he recognized the diffi-
culty in reducing the proposals on the table to the sort of signal he
described. He urged del egationsto enter into anegotiating mode
proving that they are ableto go beyond “ playing with text.”

TANZANIA, on behalf of the G-77/China, said that the basisfor
action and for an agreement must be strict adherenceto the Convention
and to the Berlin Mandate. He indicated that an agreement entailed
advancing commitmentsfor Annex | Partieswhile avoiding new ones
for non-Annex | Parties. Hereferred to UNGASS outcomes, high-
lighting that in addition to establishing targets, there was widespread
agreement that it will be necessary to take into account the adverse
effects of response measureson all countries, especially developing
ones.

IPCC Chair Bert Bolin remarked on the Second A ssessment
Report (SAR), which statesthat “the balance of evidence suggestsa
discernible human influence on global climate.” He stated that
enhanced GHG concentrations correspond to achangein global mean
temperature of 0.7-2.1° C, but arelimited to 0.2-1.1° C by aerosol
concentrations and climate system inertia. He stated that global
warming for thefull range of IPCC emission scenariosand climate
sensitivitieswas estimated to be in the range 1.0-3.5° C by the year
2100. He noted that recent analysis showsthat Annex | countrieswere
responsible for 64% of thetotal CO2 emissionsin 1996, down from
75%in 1985. Although most of theincreased emissions stem from
non-Annex | countries, they will not reach 50% of the total emissions
for another 15-20 years. He noted that stabilization of CO2 inthelong-
term requires effortsby all countries.

LUXEMBOURG, on behalf of the EU, recalled its proposal that
“Annex X" Parties, individually or jointly, in accordance with the
Berlin Mandate, should reduce emission levelsfor CO2, CH4 and
N20 together (weighted total, using Global Warming Potential witha
100-year time horizon) by 2005 by at least 7.5% below 1990 levels. He
also proposed that HFC, PFC and SF6 should be added no later than
2000 to the “basket” of gasesfor these reduction objectives. He said
that devel oped countries must face up to their responsibilities and take
thelead. However, all Parties must realize that in the longer term an
increasingly global effort is needed to tackletheissue.

BRAZIL summarized its proposal (FCCC/AGBM/1997/MISC.1/
Add.3) by calling for adirect and objectivelink to be established
between the annual rate of GHG emissions and theincreasein global
mean surface temperature. He proposed that reduction targets be estab-
lished in terms of temperature change. He called for the establishment
of amechanism to guarantee that non-Annex | countries address
climate change. He called for the devel opment of quantitative targets
for non-Annex | countries asthey reach appropriate levels of well-
being. He proposed that the Clean Devel opment Fund receive manda-
tory contributionsfrom Annex | Partiesin proportion to their overall
non-compliance. He noted four points of negotiation: reduction targets
of Annex | Parties expressed in temperature change; time of perfor-
mance review for Annex | countries; initial year of consideration for
historical emissions; and value of assessed contribution to the Clean
Development Fund. He requested that the proposal beformally
submitted to COP-3.

ZIMBABWE, on behalf of the African Group, expressed hope that
the AGBM will accelerate the negotiating process and reach agree-
ment by the end of the next session. She noted that African countries
are often marginalized by theinterim funding mechanism process. She
expressed concern with the lack of progress madein political delibera-
tions and urged that the policies and measures and quantified emis-
sionslimitation and reduction objectives within specified time frames
contain provisionsfor socio-economic impact assessments. She noted
that any decision reached should not increase the socio-economic and

environmental burdens placed on Africa. She stated that an agreement
should include commitment of financial resources and technol ogies
for African countries.

The RUSSIAN FEDERATION said the outcome should go
through the same ratification process as the Convention and that CO2
reduction targets must be considered alongside goalsfor removal.
SLOVENIA signaledits preparation to eventually join Annex | Parties
in complying with legally binding commitments and supported an EU
proposal for GHG reductions.

The US said the AGBM agreement must: maintain legally binding
targets, provide maximum flexibility; include credible and realistic
levels; include mechanismsfor national compliance; and involveall
countries. He said it was not possibl e to decide what kind of numerical
target might be undertaken without knowing what constraints would
be imposed on such atarget. The US had introduced proposalson
emissionstrading, joint implementation, abudget processand a
banking processto increase flexibility and reduce costs. In thisregard
he outlined two new proposals, which he said are critical in deter-
mining the agreement structure. He explained that alegally binding
agreement would require acompliance mechanism to which flexibility
concepts could be added, although these were currently tinged with
some political heat. He also called for acomprehensive approach
including all GHGs, sources, sectorsand sinks. Where countriesfailed
to use the enabling |PCC methodol ogy to adopt such an approach they
should be penalized. On all-country participation, he called for an
improved definition of Article4.1 and the Berlin Mandate. He noted
that whilethereisadifference between Annex | and non-Annex |
countries, it was unreasonabl e to expect that nothing could be done
between the Annex | and non-Annex | commitments. The US proposal
includes arecommendation for along-term processtoward the objec-
tive of the Conventionincluding all countriesand seeking evolution. A
new negotiation would certainly follow the AGBM, and within that
timeframeall countries must participate.

UZBEKISTAN said the countrieswith economiesin transition
requireinvestment in new technologies.

SAUDI ARABIA addressed contradictionsin Annex | palicies,
such asincreased fossil fuel production by developed countriesinthe
event of lower consumption, leading to lower imports, and subsidies
provided to somefossil fuel sectorswhiletaxing the use of other fossil
fuels. He asked for consideration of compensation in the event of nega
tive economic impacts on some States.

The Chair introduced the documentation, including the main nego-
tiating text compiled at AGBM-6 (FCCC/AGBM/1997/3/Add.1) and
proposals from Partiesreceived after AGBM-6 (FCCC/AGBM/1997/
MISC.1/Add.2,3,4, and 5). The Chair stated that del egates would meet
in closed sessions and briefings for observerswould be held each
morning.

The Chair then invited anumber of Partieswith new proposalsto
make presentations. JAPAN called for: aSBSTA study on theremoval
of carbon dioxide viasinks before the issueistaken up under
QELROS; areview processto reflect thelatest science; and for linkage
between entry into force of an agreement and the total aggregate emis-
sionsof ratifying countries.

GEORGIA called for improved financial mechanismsfor the
energy sector and encouragement of private sector participationin AlJ.
SAMOA, on behalf of the ALLIANCE OF SMALL ISLAND
STATES(AOSIS), outlined proposal stofully reflect the precautionary
principleinthework of the AGBM. He said aguiding objective of the
AGBM agreement should beto ensure that global sealevel rise
resulting from climate change does not exceed 20 cm above 1990
levels, and that the average global temperature does not exceed 2°C
abovethe pre-industrial level.

In Plenary on 4 August, the Chairs of the non-group reported on
their work to date. Del egates al so heard presentationsfrom NGOs,
including the International Council for Local Environmental Initia-
tives, arepresentative from business and industry, and the Climate
Action Network. JAPAN commented on an NGO report suggesting
that Japan had proposed targetsthat would allow for large increases of
CO2 emissionsby Annex | countriesby theyear 2010. He stressed that
Japan had not made such aproposal and reiterated Japan’ s position to



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 4

reduce CO2 emissionsto lessthan 1 ton per capitaby the year 2100.
The Chair of the OECD Expert Group on Annex | Countriesindicated
that the group sought to provide analytical support for AGBM.

REPORTS OF THE NON-GROUPS

NON-GROUP ON QELROS

The non-group on QEL ROs held anumber of meetings throughout
theweek and, based on adraft by Chair Luiz Gylvan MeiraFilho
(Brazil), produced a consolidated text with alternatives for each of the
following sections: coverage, nature of target and baseline, banking,
borrowing, Partieswith economiesin transition, regional economic
integration organizations, flexibility (emissionstrading, joint imple-
mentation and cooperative effortsby interested Parties), measurement,
reporting and communication of information, review of implementa-
tion and compliance, possibleimpacts on devel oping countries, and an
annex listing gases.

Two safeguard “ notes” wereintroduced at the beginning of the
draft negotiating text. Oneindicatesthat “all paragraphs remain open
for final negotiation, and existing brackets within each paragraph do
not prejudge the status of that paragraph.” The other states, inter alia,
that in the view of many delegations, there are some very important
inter-linkages between the different elements of the text and inclusion
of proposalsin any section of thetext does not prejudge consideration
of thoseinter-linkages.

Differing views on how alternatives on flat rate targets and differ-
entiation would be reflected in the document were settled after exten-
sive consultationsthrough achapeau in the section on “ Nature of target
and baseling” stating that “ as yet no consensus has been reached on
QELROsand Parties recogni ze that when consensus on the establish-
ment and nature of QELROs isreached, further consolidation and
amendment of the text will be required.”

Coverage: Bracketed text in this section refersto the anthropo-
genic emissions by sources, anthropogenic removals by sinksand
GHGsto which QELROs shall apply. Brackets al so encompass meth-
odologiesfor establishing anthropogenic removal by sinksand the
criteriafor addition of greenhouse gasesto an “Annex G” under which
these gaseswould belisted. Other bracketsrefer to the periodic revi-
sion of thelist of GHGs.

Nature of target and baseline: Inthissection nine alternatives
address distribution of QEL ROsfor Partiesaccording to aflat rate
approach or adifferentiated one, and include an alternative on budget
periods. Variations of flat rate targets and baselinesinclude the estab-
lishment of target datesfor the return of anthropogenic emissionsto
1990 levelsby acertain year (2000, 2005, 2010), and reduction of
anthropogeni c emissions by an average 15% to 20% below 1990 levels
by acertain year (2005, 2010, 2020).

The alternative on budget periods entails setting capsfor GHG
emissionswithin specific time periodsfor countrieslisted under
“Annex Q" or “Annex Q1.” The countriesto beincluded in these
annexes hasyet to be determined. Countrieslisted under Annex Q
shall adopt national policiesand measures necessary to “limit” and
“reduce emissions’ by sources, while countries under Annex Q1 shall
undertake policies and measuresfor the “ mitigation of climate
change.”

The alternative on budget periodsincludes provisions on meeting
emission limitation objectives, cal cul ation of emissions budgets and
the procedurefor establishing Annex Q1 Party Commitments.

One of the alternatives addresses the need to establish “ equity”
between the Parties. In thisregard, it determinesthat commitments
will be“governed by the principle that mitigation action by Parties
listed in Annex Q shall result in those Parties incurring equal
percentage changesin per capita economic welfare.”

Another alternative determinesthat the range within which each
Party’ sdifferentiated QEL ROswould fall, would be between a 30%
reduction by 2010 from its 1990 level of emissionsand a40% increase
by 2010 over its 1990 level of such emissions.

Other alternatives propose that Partieslistedin Annex | to the
Convention shall individually or jointly cooperate to ensurethat their
total aggregate annual/net emissions of GHGswithin aspecific time
period shall be a percentage lower than their aggregate emissionsfor a
previoustime period.

Over-achievement/Banking and Under-achievement/
Borrowing: These sectionsrefer to how Parties can “bank” or
“borrow” shares of emissions according to the emissions budgetsthey
have been allocated within aspecific time period. They includea
proposal onfinancial contributions as penalties for not “ maintaining
emissions below the respective effective emissions ceiling.”

Regional Economic Integration Organizations: Thissection
includes provisionsto allow Statesthat are members of aregional
economic integration organization to cooperate in theimplementation
of their commitments.

Flexibility: This section includes subsections on emissions
trading, joint implementation and cooperative efforts by Parties.

Emissions Trading: Three alternatives have been included inthis
subsection. One establishes that commitments shall be fulfilled indi-
vidually and not through coordinated actions, including emissions
trading. Another states that trading in emissions permits between
“Annex Q" Partiesshall take place only after a satisfactory equitable
initial allocation of QEL ROs/emissions budgets has been agreed upon.
Thethird aternative determinesthat, except as otherwise provided for,
any “Annex Q" Party may transfer to or acquire from any other
“Annex Q” or “ Annex Q1" Party any of itsemissions allowed for a
budget period for the purpose of meeting its emissionslimitation and
reduction commitments. Under thisalternative, certain criteriaand
restrictions have been introduced for the way emissionstrading will
operate.

Joint Implementation: Thefirst alternative under this subsection
reiterates that commitments shall befulfilled individually and not
through coordinated actions. The second alternative allowsfor each
“Annex Q" or “Q1” Party tofulfill part of their QEL ROs obligationsto
[imit or reduce anthropogenic emissions by all sources and enhance
anthropogenic removal by sinks of GHGsthrough joint implementa-
tion of mitigation measures. Several options have been included under
thisalternative on participation.

Cooperative Efforts by Interested Parties: Thissubsection
includes a provision according to which Annex | countries, under
certain conditions, may transfer to or receive from any Party listed in
Annex | to the Convention any of the equivalent emissions reductions
or sink enhancements resulting from specific investmentsfor the
purpose of meeting itsobligations. It also statesthat any Party not
listedin Annex | to the Convention may, on avoluntary basis, carry out
projectsthat limit GHGs or remove GHGs by sinksand reservoirs, in
accordance with their development priorities and strategies.

Possible impacts on developing countries of new commitments
in the new instrument/socio-economic injuries sustained by devel-
oping countries: Thissection reiteratesthat in theimplementation of
policies and measures, provisionsin the Convention pertaining to
countriesthat are particularly vulnerable to climate change (Art.4.8),
shall be fully taken into account. It also proposesthe creation of a
concrete compensation mechanism for damagesincurred by devel -
oping countries arising from the implementation of response
measures. Several modalities for the compensation mechanism have
been contemplated, including coverage of social and economic losses
?ng theright to seek redressfor |oss of income from export of fossil

uels.

Measurement, reporting and communication of information:
This section relates to the communication of information related to the
implementation of the protocol or legally binding instrument that
Parties shall undertake. It encompasses provisions on the need for
comparability, consistency and transparency of information aswell as
content and timing.

Review of information, implementation and compliance: Provi-
sionsfor therevision of information with aview to assess compliance
of obligations arein this section. Modalities of reviews by expert
teams or committees have been contemplated, aswell asfrequency of
the reviews, and recommendations to be made based on outcomes of
thereviews.



Page 5

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

Review of commitments: Seven alternatives appear under this
section, and focus on the modalities, frequency and methodology for
thereview of the commitments. Optionsfor entitiesin charge of
conduc)ti ng the reviews areincorporated (COP or Meeting of the
Parties).

NON-GROUP ON POLICIES AND MEASURES

Mohamed Ould El Ghaouth (Mauritania) chaired the non-group on
policiesand measures (P& Ms), which met twice during AGBM-7. The
discussion focused on whether P& Ms should belegally binding and
whether they should be differentiated. Some del egationsfavored
legally binding P& Msand referred to proposal s on several annexes
setting differentiated policies and measures. A group of countries
submitted a non-paper on thisissue. Other delegationsfavored aflex-
ible approach whereby countries should be able to set their own
P&Ms.

Inthefinal Plenary, delegatesreceived therevised draft text
produced by the non-group. The document refersto the P& Msthat
countrieslisted in an “Annex Q" shall adopt or give high priority.
Typesof policiesand measuresto be adopted by Annex Q countriesare
classifiedinlists: P& Msin List A would be adopted; thosein List B
would be accorded high priority; and thosein List C would be given
priority. Therevised draft negotiating text includes provisions
according to which policies and measures applied by Annex Q coun-
triesshall: address“all” GHGs, their emissions by sourcesand
removal by sinksand relevant sectors; and contribute to stabilization
of GHG concentrationsin the atmosphere. It also statesthat P& Mswill
have no adverse impacts on socio-economic conditions of devel oping
country Parties, especially thoselisted in Article 4.8 of the Conven-
tion.

Thedraft text callsfor: Annex Q countriesto draw up national
plansfor limiting and reducing anthropogenic emissions by sources,
and enhancing removal of GHGs by sinksand reservoirs. It determines
that national plans shall be binding on the submitting Party. Another
provision statesthat “ Partieswill continue to retain maximum flexi-
bility deciding how best, based on their national circumstances, they
can reach emission limitation/reduction objectives.”

In the draft, the sectorsto be covered by P& Msinclude energy,
transport, industry, agriculture, forestry and waste management. List-
ings of specific P&Msto beincluded under List A are heavily brack-
eted. Among them are: the abalition or phasing out of subsidieson
fossil fuels* asthe most polluting source of energy;” increased taxa-
tion on “oil/energy/CO2/GHGs;” the exemption of aviation fuel from
taxes; and energy-consumption labelling.

L anguage on establishing performanceindicators to measure the
achievement of P& Msand goalsisalso heavily bracketed.

NON-GROUP ON ARTICLE 4.1 (COMMITMENTYS)

The non-group on continuing to advance commitments under
Article4.1 met three times under the chairmanship of EvansKing
(Trinidad and Tobago). When King had to return to his country, the
non-group continued consultations under John Ashe (Antiguaand
Barbuda).

Initially del egates agreed to negotiate on the basis of a paper
prepared by the Chair. Regarding chapeau paragraphs on advancing
the implementation of commitments, some non-Annex | countries
reportedly sought to include referencesto the Berlin Mandate. They
also supported referring to FCCC elements, including a specific refer-
enceto theintroduction of no new non-Annex | commitments, but
some Annex | countries objected.

Some del egations were reluctant to include areference to the prin-
ciple of common but differentiated responsibilities. There were
proposalsto del ete paragraphs that conditioned advancement of
commitments by non-Annex | Parties on the provision of financial
resources and transfer of technology by developed countries.

A developed country put forward an alternative draft paper that
would commit Partiesto advance implementation of Article 4.1 and to
strengthen collaboration.

Several paragraphswere del eted including those that called on
Partiesto: recognize the progressthat has been made on Article 4.1;
reaffirm their commitmentsto 4.1; and to devel op further international
cooperation on the basis of mutually beneficial incentive structures.

Onedelegation called for the preparation of national inventorieson an
annual basis. Some non-Annex | countries opposed annual inventories
because of financial and technical limitations.

Many countries proposed the del etion of a paragraph calling for
cooperation to facilitate mitigation and adaptation to climate change.
Non-Annex | countries noted a strong objection to the paragraph
calling for specific definitions on policies and measures.

Paragraphs noting the role that development and transfer of tech-
nology should play and calling for entities entrusted with operation of
the financial mechanism to make availablefinancial assistancefor the
introduction of technology were deleted.

On Saturday, 2 August, the Chair agreed to produce anew text for
further discussion containing alternativesfor articleslacking
consensus. The draft text on advancing implementation of existing
commitmentsin Article 4.1 has achapeau and two aternatives. The
chapeau language that the “ text iswithout prejudiceto the provisions
of Article4.1” resulted from adebate over whether the draft should
includefull referencesto FCCC articles. The notethat “all paragraphs
remain open for negotiation and are not agreed” appearson thetext,
most of whichisheavily bracketed.

Thefirst alternative notes common but differentiated responsibili-
ties, capabilities, national and regional development priorities, objec-
tivesand circumstances. It statesthat Parties shall not introduce any
new commitmentsfor non-Annex | Parties but reaffirm and continue
to advance existing ones.

The second alternative al so pledges Partiesto advance Article 4.1
commitmentsand addsthat they shall strengthen collaboration through
bilateral, multilateral and Convention-based mechanisms. Text on
existing commitments by non-Annex | Parties makesimplementation
contingent upon effective implementation of Annex | Parties commit-
mentsrelated to financial resources and technology transfer. It also
calls economic devel opment and poverty eradication the“first and
overriding priority” of developing country Parties.

Thefinancial mechanism, according to bracketed text in the second
aternative, isto provide necessary resources for implementation of
provisionsin 10 areas based on sub-articles of the FCCC: emissions
inventories; national programmes; technology; GHG sinks and reser-
voirs; climate changeimpacts; climate change considerationsin rele-
vant policies and actions; research and observation; information
exchange; education, training and public awareness; and information
related to implementation. The alternative statesthat afund or funds
for provision of new and additional financial resources, which are
predictable and adequate for devel oping countries implementation of
existing commitments, shall be set up under the Protocol.

The section on emissionsinventoriesincludes bracketed references
to submissionson “an annual basis’ and “annual” inventory data. The
section on relevant policiesand actionsincludestwo alternatives on
indicators: one calling for use of “national level” indicators and the
other suggesting use of relevant indicatorsto the extent possible. The
section on information related to implementation containsthree alter-
natives. One callsfor communication of information by the second
COP of the protocol. The second callsfor in-depth reviews. Thethird
describesin depth reviews of “Annex |” or “ Annex Q" parties commu-
nications and consideration of “non-Annex I” or “non-Annex Q"
communications.

NON-GROUP ON INSTITUTIONS AND MECHANISMS

The non-group on institutions and mechanisms, chaired by Takao
Shibata (Japan), met four times during AGBM-7. The non-group
considered proposalsfrom the AGBM Chair’s compilation text onthe
Preamble, Institutions and Mechanisms and Final Elements. Parties
wereinvited to send their commentsto the Secretariat on anumber of
the Final Elementsthat were not discussed.

Inthefinal draft text, two proposalsremain. Thefirst proposal, in
brackets, notesthat Parties have concluded that paragraphs 2(a) and (b)
of Article4 are not adequate, and that they adopted the Berlin Mandate
to strengthen Annex | commitments. It recognizesthat the processwill
not introduce any new commitmentsfor non-Annex | Parties but reaf-
fi r(rjnsArticIe 4.1 commitments, taking into account Articles 4.3, 4.5,
and4.7.



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 6

A second and more extensive proposal includes bracketed intro-
ductory paragraphs. Onerefersto the COP-1 decision on the Berlin
Mandate. The other paragraph includestwice-bracketed referencesto
“Article 7 paragraph 2" and “the Provisions’ of the Convention, taking
into account that the Protocol isarelated legal instrument to the
Convention.

Brackets also appear around the potential contribution of the elimi-
nation of subsidiesto the reduction of GHGsin Annex | countries. The
bracketed text notesthat “therefore highest priority should be givento
those policiesin implementing their commitments.” The second
proposal asoincludesreferencesto: likely impacts on developing
countriesand fossil fuel producers; future re-examination of global
effortsto combat climate change by FCCC Parties; indicatorsfor
limiting GHGs, acomprehensive approach; voluntary measures by all
Partiesto set QEL ROS; joint implementation; flexibility; afuture
concentration-based approach to emission limitation goal's; and effec-
tive enforcement.

On ingtitutions and mechanisms, there were lengthy exchanges on
the coreissue of the relationship between the COP/FCCC and any new
instrument. While there was general support for “institutional
economy,” whereby the FCCC COP would serve asthe meeting of the
Partiesto the Protocol, opposing viewswere put forward on what
authority the COP would havein regard to the Protocol . Some devel -
oping country Parties were uneasy with the prospect of the Protocol
developing alifeof itsown and eventually subsuming the FCCC. They
argued for theright of all Partiesto the FCCC to amend the Protocol.
Some devel oped country Parties were concerned about the future
influence of non-ratifying Parties over the Protocol. One delegate
argued for adistinction between thelegal and political relationship
between the COP and the Protocol. There was general agreement on
the possibility of amultilateral consultative process but decisions
about itsrelation to the protocol wereleft open.

Thedraft text includes two proposals on the Conference of the
Parties. Thefirst proposal assertsthat the COP of the Convention shall
serve asthe COP to the Protocol, on condition that decisions on the
Protocol should be taken only by FCCC Partiesal so party to the
Protocol, and that any member of the FCCC COP Bureau whoisnot a
Party to the Protocol shall be substituted by a member elected by and
from Protocol Parties. A paragraph on voting al so bracketsthe type of
majority vote and which Protocol Parties can vote.

The second proposal establishes aMeeting of the Partiesto the
Protocol (MOP). Init the FCCC Secretariat shall serve asthe Protocol
secretariat, and the FCCC subsidiary bodies shall also serve asthe
Protocol’ s subsidiary bodies. The section stating that the financial
mechanism defined in the FCCC shall serve asthe mechanism for the
Protocol containsbracketsaround text stating that the mechanism shall
be guided by the Protocol’s COP when dealing with Protocol activi-
ties.

There arefour proposals on review of information and review of
implementation and compliance. Two of the proposalsrefer to the
involvement of expert teamsin thereview of information. Thethird
states that the M OP shall receive, review and ensure publication of
information. A fourth, in brackets, states that the COP and its appro-
priate subsidiary bodies shall receive national communicationsand
ensuretheir in-depth review. Bracketed referencesto the multilateral
consultative process include the timing of the establishment or consid-
eration of aMCP, the MCPreferred to in FCCC Article 13, and arefer-
enceto promoting effective implementation.

There are three proposalsin the Dispute Settlement section. The
first applies FCCC Article 14 to the Protocol. A second proposal
restrictsinitiation of disputesto Parties other than regional economic
integration organizations. There are bracketed referencesto disputes
concerning implementation of commitments and any claim made
concerning economic injuries sustained by devel oping countries, and
to the Article on acompensation mechanism. A referenceto the
submission of the dispute to the International Court of Justiceisalso
bracketed. Thethird proposal on mandatory, binding dispute settle-
ment has brackets around areference to “ specific consequences
flowing from aviolation.”

Onfinal elements, anumber of participants expressed theview that
certain proposals had been placed “onice”’ until encompassing issues
at the AGBM had been cleared. In thediscussion on annexes, anumber

of developing and newly industrialized country Parties sought to
ensure that an amendment procedure asrigorous asthat of the FCCC
would govern the status of Partiesincluded in the Protocol’ sannexes.
On therelationship of the Protocol to other agreements, some Parties
opposed aproposal on derogation, fearing that it would subordinate
the Protocol to other institutions, particularly the World Trade Organi-
zation (WTO). Others sought to establish that the Protocol would not
prejudice the rights and obligations of WTO members. On entry into
force, two main positions emerged. Some supported ratification based
on the number of signatories. Others supported a“weighted entry into
force” approach, linking ratification to the percentage contributionsto
GHG emissions of ratifying Parties. There was some debate on
whether the percentage should refer to GHGs emitted by Annex |
Parties or to the global figure. Some Parties argued for a proposal to
ensurethat any Party withdrawing from the Protocol would continueto
beliablefor any claim accruing against it asaresult of economicinjury
sustained by developing countries.

Three proposal s on the Protocol’ s Rel ationship to the Convention
remain in brackets. Thefirst statesthat: the FCCC COP must also
review implementation of the Protocol; Partiesto the Protocol may
seek guidance on matters of duplication from the COP; and FCCC
provisionsrelating to protocols are to apply to the Protocol except
where otherwise stated. The second proposal statesthat Protocol
commitments do not cancel Annex | commitmentsfor the period
before 2000. Thethird proposal statesthat theinstrument isa supple-
ment to and integral part of the FCCC.

In the section on the Adoption and amendment of annexes, there
are bracketed referencesto: arestriction ontheform (i.e., tolists) of
annexes other than those adopted with the instrument; voting majori-
ties optionsfor annexes; and entry into force of amendments.

Theentire section “ Relationship to other agreements,” which states
that theinstrument shall not derogate from the rights and obligations of
Parties under existing international agreements, in particular, the
agreement establishing the WTOQ, is bracketed. A section on Provi-
sional application of the Protocol prior toitsentry into force also
remainsin brackets.

Therearethree proposalson entry into force. The bracketed second
proposal placesentry into force after the deposit of the “fiftieth” ratifi-
cation, or the deposit by which the total aggregate emissionsfor 1990
of “carbon dioxide” and/or “GHGS” of the depositing Parties exceed
“three-fourths” of thetotal aggregate emissions of “Partieslisted in
Annex 1to the Convention” or “all Parties of the Convention” for
1990, whichever islater. The bracketed third proposal statesthat the
instrument shall enter into force on the 90th day after ratification by all
Annex | Partiesand on the 90th day after implementation of all Annex
| FCCC commitments.

FINAL PLENARY

The Chair of the institutions and mechanisms non-group intro-
duced anew draft revised negotiating text and noted that many
brackets remain, but that del egates had succeeded in streamlining and
consolidating the text. He noted that he will be availableto receive
commentson thetext. The Chair of the QEL ROs non-group intro-
duced adraft revised negotiating text and stated that he was pleased
with the constructive exchange of views between Parties. He noted that
the non-group had made progressin identifying alternatives, but that
the entiretext remainsin brackets and will be considered at the next
meeting in October. He stated that the non-group did not havetimeto
consider the voluntary application of commitments by non-Annex |
Parties. He noted that a proposal calling for a section on stabilization
levelswas submitted to the Chair of the AGBM for consideration. On
review of commitments, the Chair of the non-group stated that because
of uncertainty on how the processwill evolve, it was appropriate to
keep the Chair’ s negotiating text.

Herequested the Chair of the AGBM to consider how thereview of
commitmentswill be dealt with in the future. On measurement,
reporting and review of information and compliance, the Chair
suggested that the review be forwarded to the non-group on institu-
tions and mechanism for possible discussion. SAUDI ARABIA called
on the Chair to ensure that the draft includes a chapeau stating, inter
alia, that all paragraphs remain open for final negotiation and that
existing brackets do not prejudge the status of a paragraph.



Page 7

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

The AGBM Chair introduced the draft revised negotiating text on
policies and measures. He noted that there had been considerable
discussion on the option of no reference to policies and measures
versusthe option of adetailed list of common coordinated policiesand
measures. The Chair for the non-group on Article4.1 introduced a
draft revised negotiating text and noted that although nothing has been
agreed upon within thetext, it offersagood starting point for negotia-
tionsin October.

The G-77/CHINA reminded del egatesthat the Berlin Mandate
process should not introduce new commitments for non-Annex |
Parties, but advance the implementation of existing commitments of
all Parties. He stated that proposal sfor new commitments have been
used to obscurethelack of political will of Annex | Parties. He noted
that no countries have proposed sharing the burden of the effects of
climate change despite the historical emissions of many Annex |
Parties. He stated that the biggest handicap for non-Annex | countries
isthat they have no other forum for discussions other than the negoti-
ating sessions.

The US stated that it is committed to reach an agreement that will
take serious stepsto limit GHG emissions. He noted that paragraphson
the evolution of emission limitation commitments were not discussed,
and called for their consideration at the next meeting. ZIMBABWE,
on behalf of the African Group, noted that African nationswill leave
the meeting concerned about the pace of progresswhilethe negative
effects of climate change continue. She noted four principlesthat need
to beclearly defined: limitations of all GHGs; setting realistic per
capitaemissionsrightsthat consider population growth and ditferenti-
ation; reducing the emissions of Annex | Partieswhile controlling
growth of emissions of non-Annex | Parties; and appropriatetime
framesthat consider the current impacts of climate change. The Chair
called on Annex | Partiesto spare no effort in consulting among them-
selvesto find acompromise during theintersessional period. KENY A
called for astrong protocol or another legal instrument. SAUDI
ARABIA proposed that Annex | Partiesidentify the specific policies
and measuresthat they intend to adopt to achieve their QEL ROs, and
provide an analysis of the environmental, social and economic effects
of the proposalson non-Annex | Parties. GHANA noted that many
African countries areimplementing sustainable development action
plans but that the efforts are being undermined by climate change. He
recognized the importance of non-Annex | Party commitmentsand
stated that the use of differentiation for QELROsisboth fair and
reasonable. LUXEMBOURG, on behalf of the EU, noted the flexi-
bility and contribution that the EU has shown in its position and noted
the concerns expressed by the G-77/CHINA.

The Chair noted that all the proposalsin the negotiating text
(FCCC/IAGBM/1997/3/Add.1 and MISC. 1/Add. 2, 3, 4, and 5)
remained on the table and that not all elements of the negotiating text
had been taken up at AGBM-7. The draft texts presented by the Chairs
as outcomes from their non-groups at AGBM-7 would be annexed to
thereport of the Session in the sameway that SBI had annexed docu-
ments on non-Annex | communications and the review of the GEF.
Encouraged by Parties’ remarks, the Chair added that he would
continue with consultations during the intersessional period and
prepare aChair’ stext for AGBM-8, which would serve asthe focus of
thework.

The Chair noted that the AGBM would end with thefinal sessionin
October. After that all that would remain will beto present areport to
COP-3. Herecalled his opening statement to the Plenary inwhich he
had emphasized the need for proposalsfor quantitative targetsfor
QELROS and re-stated that such targets remained the goal. He noted
that with those numbers most other pointswould fall into place and
stated that nobody should underestimate the obstaclesto be overcome
during AGBM-8. He urged Partiesto cometo AGBM-8 determined to
advance consensus.

On thereport of the meeting, the Chair said the annotationsto the
Agendawould state that the texts produced by non-groupswould be
issued as addendato the report. Thereport itself would belargely
procedural. He invited Parties to authorize the Rapporteur to complete
thereport after the session in cooperation with the Chair and the Secre-
tariat. Responding to questionsby SAUDI ARABIA, the Chair said
the Saudi invitation to Annex | countriesto provideinformation on
impactswould form part of the conclusionsin thereport. The Chair

noted that the Berlin Mandate may actually extend until COP-3, and
that he would prepare his Chair’ stext as soon ashe could. The Session
was adjourned.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR IMPLEMENTATION

On 28 July, Chair Mohamed Ould El Ghaouth (Mauritania)
convened SBI-6. He reminded del egates that the SB1 would not meet
at COP-3 and must finalize anumber of recommendationsat this
session and at SBI-7 in October. On the adoption of the agenda (FCCC/
SBI1/1997/7), heinvited the Philippinesto ask colleaguesif they were
prepared for apreliminary exchange of views on proposal sfor amend-
mentsto the FCCC and its annexes (FCCC/SBI/1997/11). If not, the
proposalswould go directly to COP-3. SAUDI ARABIA, supported
by KUWAIT, sought deletion of an agendaitem on mattersarising
from UNGASS. He said there waslittle of substancefrom UNGASSto
send to COP-3. The Chair said theitem was simply for information.

Divisions of Labor between SBI and SBSTA: On 28 July, dele-
gates considered document (FCCC/SB/1997/2) and agreed that ajoint
SBI/SBSTA contact group, chaired by Amb. Mark Hambley (US) and
José Romero (Switzerland) would consider theissue. The group met
throughout the week and on 4 August, an informal SBI meeting
approved the contact group’ sdraft decision. On 5 August, SBI and
SBSTA both decided to recommend the draft decision for adoption by
COP-3.

Thedraft decision outlines ageneral approach, under which one of
the bodieswill take the overall responsibility in considering an issue
and will request specific inputsfrom the other body if necessary.
Where overall responsibility is not assigned, agendas should be orga-
nized to avoid SBSTA and SBI dealing with such issuesin parallel.
Wherethisisnot possible consideration should be given to holding ad
hoc joint sessions.

SBI will haveresponsibility for developing guidelines on the
processesfor consideration of national communicationsand other rele-
vant documentation. SBSTA, in cooperation with SBI, shall have
responsibility for devel oping guidelines for the provision of compa-
rableinformation including all related methodol ogical issues, and
shall consider national communi cations, such astechnical papers, with
theaim of, inter alia, verifying methodol ogies used.

SBI will, withinput from SBSTA, have responsibility for assisting
the COP in the assessment and review of the effective implementation
of the Convention with respect to the development and transfer of tech-
nology. As stipulated by the Convention, the SBSTA shall have
responsibility for providing advice on all scientific, technological and
methodological aspects.

SBI will have overall responsibility for all policy questionsand
relevant inputsrelated to i ssues dealing with NGO consultations, as
appropriate. Should SBSTA or any other subsidiary body conclude
that NGOs could provide relevant input on an item under consider-
ation, that body could seek and consider such inputs. Issuesinvolving
provisional accreditation related to individual NGOs will bethe
responsibility of the relevant body.

On AlJ, SBSTA will havetheresponsibility for developing the
framework for reporting, including consideration of scientific, tech-
nical and methodol ogical aspects of thereports. SBSTA will also
prepare reports on activitiesfor the COP. SBI will have the responsi-
bility for assisting the COP with thereview of the progressof AlJ
under the pilot phase, on the basis of inputsfrom SBSTA.

SBSTA will have overall responsibility for issuesrelated to
research and systematic observation and shall play acoordinating role
in such activitiesrelated to implementation. SBSTA will also have
overall responsibility for providing advice on education, training,
public awareness programmes and public accessto information.

Annex | Communications: On 30 July, the Secretariat introduced
documentsincluding: atentative schedule of thein-depth review of the
second national communications of Annex | Parties (FCCC/SB/1997/
5) in advance of preparations of afinal scheduleat SBI-7; an update on
trendsin past GHG emissions and future projections (FCCC/SB/1997/
6); and astatus report on areview of thefirst national communications
(FCCC/SB/1997/INF.3) duefor completion by SBI-7. The Secretariat
noted the slow pace of submission of second national communications
that were duein April thisyear. The EU called on Partiesto contribute



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 8

to asuccessful conclusion of the communications process. CHINA
asked the Secretariat to include statements on the difficulties Annex |
Parties have experienced in meeting their commitments.

Inthereport of the meeting, del egatestook note of the Secretariat’s
progress report and requested areport on experiences with the review
process of thefirst national communicationsfor consideration at SBI-
7.

Draft conclusions on Annex | communications (FCCC/SBI/1997/
CRP.5) were also adopted. They state, inter alia, that the Secretariat
should submit areport at SBI-7 on the progress of Annex | Parties
“individually or jointly” in returning to their 1990 levels of GHG emis-
sions. The US noted that their acceptance of “individually or jointly”
did not prejudiceits position on other texts under negotiation. The
PHILIPPINES called for theinclusion of aspecificreferenceto Article
4.2 (b). SBI also expressed concern at the late submission of communi-
cationsby many Annex | Parties and took note of the report on the
informal workshop on Annex | communications. Annex |1 Parties
werereguested to provideinformation in accordancewith Article 12.3,
which callsfor information on financial resources, adaptation assis-
tance and technology transfer.

Non-Annex | Communications: On 29 July, the Secretariat
presented documents on Secretariat activities regarding financial and
technical support (FCCC/SBI/1997/9) and on submission of initial
national communications (FCCC/SBI/1997/13). She noted that Argen-
tinaand Jordan have submitted national communications and 40 other
non-Annex | Parties had indicated they would do so by 2000. Luxem-
bourg, on behalf of the EU, said thereview processfor non-Annex |
communications should begin as soon as possible. CANADA urged
acceleration of non-Annex | communications. She supported aprocess
for consideration of non-Annex | communications asaway of
advancing commitmentsunder Article 4.1, including guidelines and
country visits. AUSTRALIA emphasized the review component asan
integral part of the process, noting that country visitswith participation
by non-Annex | expertswere helpful inthe Annex | Parties process.

ARGENTINA said consideration of non-Annex | communications
should be facilitative, not confrontational, and that he had no problem
with in-depth studies of non-Annex | communications. TANZANIA,
on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, supported by AUSTRALIA and
CUBA, said thediscussion of Annex | and non-Annex | communica-
tions should be based on differentiation. CHINA and MALAY SIA
recommended an overall assessment rather than individual review,
noting that initial non-Annex | Parties' communications may not be as
consistent or completeas Annex | Parties' . The US said consideration
of non-Annex | Parties commitments need not be as detailed nor as
extensive asthat for Annex | Parties. She said compilation and
synthesis of non-Annex | communications did not require the same
schedule or frequency but could contribute to acomprehensive
synthesisreport, which could identify gaps or inconsi stenciesin non-
Annex | communications.

The PHILIPPINES said a GHG abatement strategy isbeyond
devel oping country commitments and should not be mentioned except
asapossiblevoluntary activity. With CHINA, INDIA, MALAY SIA
and COLOMBIA, she emphasized that non-Annex | communications
aregoverned only by FCCC provisions and the relevant COP-2 deci-
sions. ZIMBABWE, CUBA and others said provision of initial
communicationsislinked to provision of funds. SAUDI ARABIA said
'l[)he_lfénanci al support must be sustainable and linked to capacity

uilding.

The REPUBLIC OF KOREA and MALAY SIA underscored
varying country conditions and capacities. BANGLADESH and
BURKINA FASO supported regiona workshops. JAPAN saiditis
strengthening training coursesfor devel oping country expertsto
increase capacity. SENEGAL promised to submit its communication
by the Kyoto meeting. The Chair suggested forming acontact group on
thisissueto beled by the USand Malaysia.

The contact group met anumber of times but did not reach
consensus. Infinal Plenary, CHINA reported on discussionsin the
contact group, highlighting financial and technical difficultiesand the
problems posed for consideration of communications given the stag-
gered submission schedule. Del egates agreed that deliberationswill
continue at SBI-7 and adopted the contact group’ sdraft conclusions.
Two annexesto the conclusions contain draft proposalsfrom the G-77/

CHINA and the US. Under the G-77/CHINA proposal, the COPwould
decideto: consider the overall aggregate effects of measurestaken
pursuant to FCCC; compilealist of projects submitted by non-Annex |
Partiesfor financing and seek funding from the financial mechanism;
and consider the non-Annex | communicationsin afacilitative, non-
confrontational, open and transparent manner. SBI would conduct
initial consideration of the communications and submit asynthesis
report to the COP on the overall aggregate effects of measurestaken
pursuant to the FCCC. The Secretariat was requested to preparea
report on the guidelinesfor the preparation of initial communications
with aview to enhancing compatibility.

Under the US draft decision, the COP would decide that consider-
ation of initial non-Annex | communicationswill include, inter alia,
the tasks of assessing quantitative and qualitative information for
consistency with applicable guidelinesand preparing areport onthe
application of guidelines. The draft decision also requeststhat the
Secretariat: select expertsfrom names nominated by Partiesto assistin
the consideration process; compile and synthesize information
contained in individual national communications, compile acompen-
dium of projectsand related information submitted by non-Annex |
Parties; arrange regional expert workshops; and note instanceswhere
in-country expert visitswould be beneficial and make appropriate
arrangements.

Financial Mechanism: On 29 July, the Secretariat summarized
the compilation of the views submitted by Parties (FCCC/SBI/1997/
MISC.3) and the synthesisreport (FCCC/SBI1/1997/8). The Chair
requested comments on the financial mechanism, and noted that in the
first GEF replenishment period no climate changerelated activities
were denied funding. SAUDI ARABIA noted that the GEF was suffi-
cient for theinterim period, but was outdated. Along with KOREA,
IRAN and the G-77/CHINA, he called for additional timeto consider
the financial mechanism.

KUWAIT, NIGERIA and SAUDI ARABI A suggested that Parties
consider other optionsfor afinancial mechanism. CHINA called for an
increase in the replenishment funds, and requested that additional
fundsbeallocated for technology transfer. MALAY SIA noted that two
of its project proposals have been turned down by the GEF.

The EU stated that the report presented by the Secretariat provided
sufficient basisto support replenishment, and suggested that the GEF
be appointed the permanent operating entity of the financial mecha-
nism. AUSTRALIA, theUS, CANADA, JAPAN and the UK noted the
success of the GEF and supported making the GEF the permanent
mechanism at COP-3. The UK stated that it is committed to the GEF
and prepared to make substantial contributions. The GEF welcomed
thereview of the financial mechanism and noted that it has provided
US$4 billion in operationa support for climate change projects. The
G-77/CHINA called for al sources of information to be carefully
examined, and noted that he waswilling to submit adraft decision on
thereview process. A contact group chaired by John Ashe (Antigua
and Barbuda) was established to consider theissue.

The contact group met throughout the week and on 31 July
produced atext that contained bracketed references noting the work
doneby GEF sinceitsinception and theinitial concernsraised by some
non-Annex | Parties. | n a section welcoming the outcome of
UNGASS, thetext contains bracketed references recognizing that
implementation of commitments made under international environ-
mental treaties can be promoted by secure, sustained and predictable
financial support, sufficient institutional capacity, human resources
and adeguate access to technology.

Under abracketed option, the GEF would be appointed the finan-
cial mechanism of the Convention and SBI would initiate arrange-
mentsfor Partiesto further consider the GEF sactivities, including a
method for Partiesto raise performanceissues. Under abracketed
alternative, the GEF would continue as the financial mechanism on an
interim basis pending areview by COP-4.

Thetext was adopted in the report of the meeting. SBI also decided
to defer consideration of thisissue until its next session and urged all
Partiesto submit their views on the financial mechanism no later than
8 September. A number of delegates noted concern with the date of 8
September and stated that they had agreed to submit the reports by 25
September to give moretimefor consideration of theissue. A compro-
mise date of 15 September was agreed upon.



Page 9

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

Administrative and Financial Matters: On 28 July, the FCCC
Executive Secretary introduced documentation on the programme
budget for the years 1998-1999 (FCCC/SBI/1997/10, INF.1, and
INF.2). He drew attention to an informal document on the status of
paymentsto the FCCC core budget and said the cash flow situation
continued to warrant concern. He said thelevel of initial budget esti-
:”nate?s had been revised downwards but would remain above the 1997
evel.

He also discussed aproposal to maintain apost-Kyoto contingency
fund for the management of any unanticipated processto emerge from
COP-3. On the Participation Fund, he warned that some linkage might
be introduced between Parties’ applicationsfor funding and the status
of their contributions.

The EU introduced aformal statement on the programme budget
for 1998-1999, noting continuing concern at the total amount of the
budget proposal s presented by the Secretariat and a proposed 50%
increase overall. The EU proposed a contact group to take the work on
the budget forward.

Delegates at an informal budget discussion that afternoon differed
on theimplications of budgetary decisionsfor AGBM and COP-3
deliberations. Some supported including fundsfor apossible post-
Kyoto processwithin aproposed contingency budget or even
including those fundsin the FCCC’ s core budget, while others said the
budget should not prejudge whether coming negotiationswill establish
such aprocess. The need for separately listing fundsfor Annex | and
non-Annex |l Parties' implementation was al so questioned, but a
number of delegations said the distinction in Parties’ responsibilities
should not be eliminated in the budget. Several delegationsalso
expressed concerns about the apparent increase in staff and overall
budget amount compared to 1997 figures. They requested further
information on these issuesfrom the Secretariat.

Inthefina Plenary, the Chair presented the draft conclusionson
the programme budget for 1998-1999 and noted that they will be
included inaformal annex. The del egates adopted the annex. The EU
noted that a 15% increase over two yearsin the budget showsthe
importance that the EU attachesto theimplementation and further
development of the Convention. The Executive Secretary expressed
hisappreciation for early closureon thisissueand noted that five of the
10 largest contributionsfor the year have till not been received.

Arrangements for Intergovernmental Meetings: On 29 July,
delegates considered document FCCC/SBI1/1997/11. On arrangements
for COP-3, the G-77/CHINA, supported by NIGERIA, VENE-
ZUELA, SAUDI ARABIA, KUWAIT, CHINA, MALI, IRAN,
KOREA, CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC, COLOMBIA and
INDIA said the proposed ministerial segment must includeall heads of
delegations and their advisors, not just ministers. Some del egations
said it should be renamed a“ high level” segment and any text for
discussion must be distributed well in advance of the ministerial
roundtable. On COP-3 agenda, the G-77/CHINA supported holding
COP-4in1998. The EU and AUSTRALIA preferred scheduling COP-
4inearly 1999. Delegates expressed varying opinions asto the value
of aministerial segment. NIGERIA, CHINA and SAUDI ARABIA
cautioned against including selected partner organizations and NGOs
in the ministerial roundtable and questioned who would make the
selections. JAPAN said NGOs should be excluded from the ministerial
segment givenitshighly political nature.

On 30 July, the SBI Chair reported that there was no agreement on
adraft decision on preparationsfor COP-3 and COP-4 prepared by the
G-77/CHINA, which will include the second review of Annex | Party
commitments. The FCCC callsfor the second review no later than 31
December 1998. The Chair appealed for flexibility from the G-77/
CHINA, which had experienced difficultieswith aproposal for adate
for COP-4. The Chairs of the G-77/CHINA and the EU agreed to
consult with the SBI Chair on arrangementsfor COP-3 and COP-4.

Inaninformal meeting on 1 August, delegates continued to debate
draft conclusions on arrangementsfor COP-3, particularly with regard
toaproposal that the Secretariat make all necessary preparationsfor
COP-3 to conduct the second review of the adequacy of Article 4.2 (a)
and (b) and thereview of Annexes| and |1. Debate al so centered on
text describing the dates of the high-level segment and noting that the
COP President will promote informal dialogue among Ministersand
Heads of delegations.

Infinal Plenary, del egates accepted draft conclusionsthat, inter
alia, request the Secretariat to make all necessary preparationsfor
COP-3to consider the second review of the adequacy of Article4.2 (a)
and (b) and that COP-3 place on the agendafor COP-4 the second
review of those articles. A request for the Secretariat to make prepara-
tionsfor thereview of Annexes| and Il was replaced with arecom-
mendation that COP-3 undertake areview of availableinformation
wi (tjh aview to taking decisions regarding amendmentsto Annexes|
andll.

The conclusions also recommend that a High Level Segment of
Ministersand other Heads of Delegations at COP-3 take place from 8-
10 December. Following aG-77/CHINA request, aparagraph
regarding an informal dialogue among Ministers and other Heads of
Delegationswas del eted.

Regarding arrangements for COP-4, the SBI recommended that
COP-4 be held in November 1998. The venue will be Bonn unlessa
proposal by Party to host the COP isreceived.

NGO Consultation Mechanisms: On 29 July, SBI considered
mechanismsfor consultation with NGOs. The Secretariat introduced
two documents (FCCC/SBI/1997/14 and Add.1). Regarding access by
NGOs, one document contains proposals on theimprovement of
existing mechanisms and the establishment of new ones, including a
Business Consultative Mechanism (BCM). The other document
(Add.1), contains additional reflections by the Secretariat. A represen-
tative of public utilities commissions and the Climate Action Network
agreed with increased transparency in the accreditation and registra-
tion process. A speaker representing business and industry NGOs
supported the concept of aBCM, and stressed the need to improve
current communications mechanisms. The International Council for
Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI) noted that areport will be
submitted to the COP and its subsidiary bodies providing dataonlocal
government initiativesto reduce GHGs. TheUS, MALAY SIA,
EGYPT, SENEGAL, the EU, CANADA, INDONESIA,
AUSTRALIA, BENIN and VENEZUELA welcomed participation of
theNGOsin the Convention. MALAY SIA and BENIN stated that
NGOswho are not supportive of the Convention process should not be
allowed to attend.

INDONESIA called for the mechanism for consultation to be
broadened to include local government and business NGOs.
CANADA, AUSTRALIA and VENEZUELA noted thefinancial
constraints of the Secretariat. CANADA suggested improving existing
bodies and mechanisms. The Chair called on Partiesto submit
comments and noted that theissuewill be taken up again at SBI-7.

Infinal Plenary, SBI took note of the Secretariat’ s documents on
mechanismsfor consultations with non-governmental organizations.
The Chair noted that a contact group would be created at SBI-7 for
consideration of thisitem. The SBI also urged all Partiesto submit
their views on thisitem by 25 August.

Other Issues: On 30 July, SBI decided to refer itsagendaitem on
development and transfer of technology to SBSTA. Infinal Plenary,
Parties adopted ad referendum draft conclusions on reducing the
volume of documentation and the calendar of meetings (FCCC/SBI/
1997/11). SBI also took note of theinformation provided by the Secre-
tariat regarding UNGASS.

Report of the Meeting: Infinal Plenary on 5 August, the Chair
noted that most decisions by the contact groups were outlined in the
draft report (FCCC/SBI/1997/L.2). Del egates reviewed the report of
the meeting and adopted it asamended. The Chair adjourned the
meeting at approximately 11:30 am.

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR SCIENTIFIC
AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

SBSTA Chair Tibor Farag6 (Hungary) opened SBSTA-6 on 28
July and highlighted theinterest in enhancing commitments under the
FCCC asexpressed at UNGASS. He noted that Burundi had recently
become an FCCC Party and said the Ukraine and Singapore would
soon follow. FCCC Executive Secretary Michael Zammit-Cutgjar
noted that while much attention has focused on the AGBM, the other
subsidiary bodieswould al so make positive contributions to COP-3.



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 10

He expressed concern at the slow pace of submission of national
communications, which are abasic commitment and affect the Secre-
tariat’ s ability to compile and synthesize information.

On the adoption of the agenda, the G-77/CHINA, reserved its posi-
tion on addressing methodol ogical issuesrelated to joint implementa-
tion asaseparateissue. CHINA proposed bracketing theitem. TheUS
reguested an explanation of thisaction. The Chair proposed including
thisitem under the general discussion on activitiesimplemented
jointly. Delegates agreed to consider the item under the discussion on
methodological issues.

On the election of officers, Soobaraj Sok Appadu (Mauritius) was
elected Vice-Chair and Alvaro Jose Rodriguez Gomez (Colombia) as
Rapporteur. On the organization of work, the Chair proposed estab-
lishing informal groupsto consider the division of labor between
SBSTA and SBI. He also proposed establishing agroup on method-
ological issues, to be chaired by Harald Dovland (Norway) and
SBSTA Vice-Chair Appadu. Thirty-four del egationsexpressedinterest
in participating.

Division of Labor: On 28 July, delegates considered the document
ondivision of labor (FCCC/SB/1997/2). The document proposes, inter
alia, that only one subsidiary body would address any particular issue
and, if necessary, the other body would consider certain aspects of the
issue. LUXEMBOURG, on behalf of the EU, along with JAPAN,
supported the proposed approach and, with SWITERLAND, empha-
sized the need for education and public awareness. JAPAN noted that
thedivision of labor for national communicationsand AlJneeds clari-
fication. The US noted that SBSTA should only refine unclear areas
rather than redefine decisions.

Somedelegations, including MALAY SIA, SAUDI ARABIA and
IRAN emphasized the importance of technology transfer to devel-
oping countries and the need for more detailed discussions. Some
disagreed with the document’ s proposal that SBI only addresstech-
nology transfer “at some point in the future.” CANADA noted that
some elements are appropriate to SBSTA’ s expertise, while othersfall
outside that, such asintellectual property rights, financial mechanisms
and therole of the private sector.

Delegates convened ajoint informal group to produce draft conclu-
sions, which was chaired by Amb. Mark Hambley (US) and José
Romero (Switzerland). The group held consultations throughout the
week and presented its conclusions on 6 August. The same conclu-
sions had been presented and adopted by SBI (see above).

Methodological Issues: On 28 July, the Chair opened discussion
on methodological issues and financing by noting that an informal
group, chaired by Harald Dovland (Norway), would al so be consid-
ering theissue. He urged delegatesto limit their discussion to general
comments on the documents (FCCC/SB/1997/INF.2, FCCC/SBI/
1997/10 and FCCC/SB/1997/INF.1) and |eave detail ed discourse for
theinformal discussions. The EU, the US and JAPAN stated that the
documentswere reasonable and useful. However, each group noted
reservations and agreed to participate in informal discussions. The EU
and the US questioned how funding should be allocated to different
bodies. MALAY SIA noted theimportance of methodological issues
and called for an increase in the budget. CHINA called for the work to
be implemented on aregional basisand stressed that this should be a
priority task.

On 29 July, aninformal group on methodological issues heard a
presentation by the Secretariat on its Methodol ogical Work
Programme. On 30 July, the methodological group reported to Plenary
that the group had found little overlap between the work of the Secre-
tariat and other international organizations. SAUDI ARABIA objected
to the paper to be presented by the methodol ogical group and stated
that the Secretariat should not be given additional responsibility. He
called for anew working group to discuss I ntergovernmental Tech-
nical Advisory Panels (ITAPs) and reminded the Chair of the G-77/
CHINA’sproposal on ITAPs.

On 31 July, the Chair of the contact group on methodologies
presented its conclusionsin Plenary. The G-77/CHINA requested
moretimeto consider this paper before approval. ZIMBABWE noted
that there was limited participation from non-Annex | countries. The
methodol ogies contact group reconvened for further consultations.

On5 August, therevised draft conclusions of methodol ogies group
were presented in the revised report of SBSTA-6. Regarding the work
programme to be conducted by the Secretariat, SBSTA decided: to
give highest priority to activitiesrelating to methods for GHG invento-
ries; high priority to projections of GHG emissions and sinks; and
priority to methodsfor evaluating and monitoring the effectiveness of
specific policies and measures for assessing adaptation strategies and
technologies.

Therevised conclusions, inter alia: request the Secretariat to
prepare aprogress report on the work programme on methodol ogies;
notethat SBSTA-7 will begin consideration of appropriate waysto
provideterms of reference for expert contributions and the review of
technical documents; and provide an opportunity for submitting initial
commentson priority areas and options for work on projections by 20
January 1998. The conclusions al so contain an indicative budget for
the methodol ogical work programme.

On 28 July, delegates considered methodol ogical issuesrelated to
crediting under joint implementation. The US and the EU supported
immediate discussion of this matter and said that joint implementation
would be limited without resolving theissue of credits. The G-77/
CHINA andtheRUSSIAN FEDERATION noted that it was premature
to talk about crediting. They emphasized that joint implementationis
gtill initspilot phase with few projects and few countriesinvolved.
NORWAY emphasized that theissue of crediting iscomplex and
addressing methodol ogy alone may not be beneficial. He called for a
broad examination of theissue before the specifics of methodology are
considered.

The Chair suggested postponing discussion of crediting until early
next year in order to await the political deliberationsthat will take
placeat AGBM. CANADA noted that each COP isresponsible for the
review of pilot projects and was concerned that theissue of crediting
was being ignored.

The Chair called onthe US, NORWAY, CANADA and CHINA to
draft acompromisetext for consideration in Plenary. On 30 July, the
USreported that this small informal group had not produced agreed
text and would continue consultations until thefinal SBSTA mesting.
On 5 August, CHINA reported that the group had still not reached
agreement. The Chair proposed that the report of the meeting state that
SBSTA had considered theissue and decided to defer consideration to
afuture session. CHINA proposed deleting the reference to future
consideration. The PHILIPPINES asked if the issuewould again be
considered a separate agendaitem or together with methodol ogical
issues. The US noted the need for further discussions and that the
clearly divergent viewswere evidenced by thefact that there are no
conclusions on thismatter. Delegates agreed to consider theissueat a
future session.

Cooperation with International Organizations: On 30 July,
delegates considered document FCCC/SBSTA/1997/M1SC.4. The
Chair noted that there was little documentation and encouraged inter-
governmental and international organizationsto brief the delegateson
their activities. The International Oceanographic Commission (I0C)
cited the need for modernizing global sealevel observationsand called
for assistance from international bodies. The Scientific and Technical
Advisory Panel (STAP) to the Global Environment Facility (GEF)
summarized its activities and workshops on climate change and noted
its cooperation with other international organizations. The World
M eteorological Organization (WM O) reported on the devel opment of
the Climate Agenda and noted that areport will be submitted to COP-
3. The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) stated the
importance of equity in methodological 1ssuesand called for aresolu-
tion. He noted the advantages gained by sharing of information
between groupsinterested in activitiesimplemented jointly (AlJ), but
cautioned that AlJ could weaken the development of local technolo-
gies.

The IPCC stated that the Third Assessment Report (TAR) is sched-
uled for completion by the end of 2000. In addition to physical, chem-
ical and ecological processes, the TAR will integrate natural and social
sciences and address sectoral issuesand regional perspectives. The
IPCC will also produce a“ policy relevant” synthesisreport.

LUXEMBOURG, on behalf of the EU, highlighted its submission
containing questions from policy makers, which focuses, inter alia, on
progress in detecting change, non-intervention scenarios and possible



Page 11

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

policy combinations. SWITZERLAND noted the importance of
disseminating the TAR resultsin all UN languages and ensuring
adequate resourcesfor the |PCC secretariat.

CHINA said the TAR should reflect theimplementation of Articles
4.2(a) and (b), and with the US, called for briefings on the consulta-
tions of the Joint Working Group of the FCCC and I PCC officers.
ZIMBABWE, on behalf of the African Group, aswell as CUBA and
ZAMBIA, sought stronger national observation and research systems.
She also urged the IPCC to produce simplified summaries of regional
impact studies and regretted that the GEF did not support UNEP' s
proposed climate awareness programme.

TheMARSHALL ISLANDS stated that the IPCC should strivefor
better information on possible scenarios, such as sea-level riseand
socio-economic impacts resulting from inaction. Any stepstowardsa
“user friendly” synthesisreport would assist political |eaders.
SAMOA cited thefact that some regions do not have expertsin this
field as proof of the need to build capacity. PERU called for work on
tropical forest methodology and the ocean carbon cycle according to
region.

In thereport of the meeting, delegates noted the information
provided by the variousinternational organizations and requested that
the Secretariat organize an informal meeting at SBSTA-7 to discuss
key issuesto be addressed inthe TAR. Following aUS proposal, the
conclusions call upon Partiesto work through other relevant organiza-
tions, including the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO)
and the International Maritime Organization (IMO).

National Communications: On 28 July, the Secretariat introduced
documents on communicationsfrom Annex | Parties (FCCC/SB/1997/
5) and inventory and projection data (FCCC/SB/1997/6), which dele-
gates noted without discussion. On communi cationsfrom non-Annex |
Parties, del egates had before them documents (FCCC/SBI/1997/9 and
FCCC/SBI/1997/13) and agreed to await the outcome of the SBI delib-
erations.

Technology Transfer: On 30 July, the Chair invited comment on a
progress report (FCCC/SB/1997/3), an update on the report (FCCC/
SB/1997/4) and atechnical paper on trends and conditions employed
by multilateral lending ingtitutions (FCCC/TP/1997/1). TANZANIA,
on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, said technology transfer remainsan
essential component and priority element of FCCC implementation.
SBSTA should continue to establish expert groups on specific issues
using theroster of experts. ZIMBABWE, on behalf of the African
Group, demanded areopening of the question of ITAPs, which could
beafirst step toward aclearinghouse mechanism. CHINA said SBSTA
should set up ITAPsto facilitate technology transfer.

The USand the EU suggested that action on I TAPsawait aplanned
review of theroster at the next SBSTA. JAPAN said SBSTA should
concentrate on updating the roster and should carefully consider quali-
ficationsfor ITAPs. MALAY SIA said I TAPsand theroster should be
enhanced to draw expertise from within governments.

The US said governments' rolein technology transfer isto
encouragetechnol ogy diffusionand remove market barriers. Thefocus
should be on informing devel oping country Parties of channelsand
conditionsfor financing. CANADA stated that the private sector isthe
preferred vehicle for technology transfer, with governments playing a
facilitating role. The EU noted the increasing significance of private
sector financial flowsand said work related to public sector financial
flows should focus on energy and transport. UZBEKISTAN suggested
an international technology exchange advisory group.

Thedraft conclusions on transfer of technologies accepted on 5
August, state that SBSTA took note of the Secretariat’ stechnical and
progress reports and supported the Secretariat’ s plansto prepare
reports on therol e of the private sector and on barriers and enabling
activities of governmentsrelated to technology transfer. Under the
draft conclusions, SBSTA encouraged the Secretariat to extend its
cooperation with other organizationswith theaim of, inter alia,
improving the availability of climate relevant data. The draft conclu-
sionsalso statethat SBSTA discussed | TAPs and noted that the Secre-
tariat has been requested to prepare areport on its experience using the
roster of experts. It recalled that the subject of ITAPs, including their
possi bl e establishment, would be considered by SBSTA-7. Partiesmay
submit proposalson theissue until 31 August 1997. SBSTA welcomed

the Secretariat’ suse of theroster in three expert meetings on tech-
nology and technol ogy transfer issues and recalled itsrequest to
Partiesto nominate expertsfor theroster.

Activities Implemented Jointly: On 28 July, delegates discussed
activitiesimplemented jointly (AlJ) under the pilot phasein Plenary.
The Secretariat introduced document FCCC/SBSTA/1997/INF.2,
which containsalist of projectsthat have been accepted, approved or
endorsed by the designated national authorities.

The EU called for the establishment of acredible baseline that
would reflect what would have happened in the absence of an AlJ
project. The calculation of the benefits should be transparent and
include only those leading to genuine GHG reductions. She noted that
further work was required on technol ogy-specific baselines and third
party verification. The US noted that a considerable amount of
progress on practical options can beidentified, and highlighted several
aspects of criteriafor assessing AlJ, such as monitoring and verifying
results, quantification of project costs and measuring emission bene-
fits. He underscored the need to examine links between these issues
and credits. The USand CANADA said the Secretariat’ sforthcoming
synthesis document should begin to draw conclusionsfrom AlJ
projects. NORWAY highlighted national experiencein AlJand noted
effortsto develop aportfolio of projectswith aview to balancing
sectorsand technologies. COSTA RICA said thewillingnessto pay for
GHG reductionsthrough AlJislinked to financing and stressed the
need for crediting.

ZIMBABWE, CHINA, KUWAIT and MALAY SIA cautioned
against forming premature conclusions on AlJbased on the pilot
phase. ZIMBABWE and CHINA said it would not be possible to
assess the effectiveness of AlJby 2000. SAUDI ARABIA said many
activitieshad been initiated to reaffirm theidea of AlJand noted that
project approval by the host government is not asign of success
because some countrieslack the capacity to judge benefits. SAMOA
noted that only 12 Parties, two from Annex I, were currently involved
in AlJactivities. While significant opportunitiesfor AlJ exist world-
wide, few countriesin the Asia-Pacific region have an understanding
of thisissue,

In thereport of the meeting, SBSTA took note with appreciation of
the Secretariat’ sinformation on AlJand the ongoing work in thefield.

Report of the session: On 30 July, Rapporteur Alvaro J.
Rodriguez (Colombia) introduced the draft “ skeleton” report of
SBSTA (FCCC/SBSTA/1997/CRP.2), which del egates amended and
adopted. On 5 August, del egates discussed the remaining issues on
their agenda, considered arevised draft report of the meeting (FCCC/
SBSTA/1997/L .4), and heard a presentation on the SBI workshop on
Annex | communications. SBSTA took note of the methodol ogical
issues outlined in the workshop report. Del egates adopted the report,
asamended, and the Chair adjourned the meeting at 5:00 pm.

AD HOC GROUP ON ARTICLE 13

On 28 July, Chair Patrick Széll (UK) opened thefifth session of the
AdHoc Group on Article 13 (AG13-5), the last AG13 meeting before
COP3. Herecalled that at AG13-4 some progress had been made,
mainly dueto the decision that AG13 should not aim to concludeits
work before COP-4, pending adecision by the AGBM on the nature of
the compliance regime.

The Chair called attention to the draft Multilateral Consultative
Process (MCP) (FCCC/AG13/1997/2, Annex I1) containing proposals
on functions and procedures with anumber of bracketed references.
Heindicated that additional submissions by Switzerland and Uzbeki-
stan had been circulated (FCCC/AG13/1 997/Misc.2).

The Chair requested that delegations circulate amendmentson the
draft MCPimmediately to allow for their consideration overnight. The
Chair a so outlined adraft decision he had prepared for COP-3
reguesting provision for two more AG13 sessions, each lasting six
half-days, with the aim of completing work by COP-4. Meeting the
target date would not be guaranteed.

On the scope and elements of an MCP, the Chair invited comments
on the ordering of paragraphsin the MCP compilation text. The EU
said the opening paragraph should refer to a“ process’ as mandated by
FCCC Avrticle 13. Reference to the establishment of acommittee
should follow later. The US warned against getting ahead of COP-3



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 12

and added that he was not in a position to endorse any course of action
for AG13. The Chair invited comments on thefirst paragraph of the

M CP compilation. Parties discussed: theintroduction of areferenceto
FCCC Article 13; whether the paragraph should refer only to the estab-
lishment of acommittee or to aprocess with asubsegquent paragraph
on acommittee, or both; whether such acommittee should be
“standing” or “ad hoc;” and whether acommittee should report
directly to the COP or to the SBI.

On 29 July, delegates engaged in a paragraph-by-paragraph review
of the draft compilation of proposals. Parties agreed on areformul ated
introductory paragraph prepared by aworking group chaired by
Zimbabwe. The paragraph establishesthe MCP asa set of procedures
to be served by acommittee. There was no agreement on whether the
committee should be standing or ad hoc or whether it should be estab-
lished under the SBI.

On aparagraph that sets out objectives, the Chair noted an EU
proposal, supported by SWITZERLAND and AUSTRALIA, torefer
tothe“process’ rather than the committee. The US, supported by
SAUDI ARABIA, proposed that the M CP provide Parties with advice
on“their” implementation of the Convention. The EU said Article 13
of the FCCC refersto advice on “the” implementation.

On related subparagraphs, there was no agreement on the objec-
tives of promoting understanding of the Convention and preventing
disputes. The Chair noted support from IRAN, CHILE and CHINA for
theinclusion of the provision of assistanceto Partiestogether with an
EU suggestion that the committee advise other elements of the FCCC
on providing financial and technological assistance.

The Chair agreed to note IRAN’ s proposal, supported by SAUDI
ARABIA, to reformulate three subparagraphsto read: “ Providing
[consultative] assistanceto the Partiesin need in order to facilitate
implementation of the Convention and finding solutionsto the
possible problemsinthisregard.” The Chair noted that the question of
providing assistance was likely to continue to haunt the Parties.

AUSTRALIA and the US objected to asuggestion by SWITZER-
LAND, supported by FRANCE, that the objectivesinclude areference
toaprotocol. The Chair advised Partiesto forget referencesto a
protocol until next year.

The Chair said a paragraph stating that the M CP will be separate
from and without prejudiceto the provisionsof FCCC Article 14
(settlement of disputes) isbased on wording from the Montreal
Protocol. SAUDI ARABIA recalled that FCCC Article 13 isnot anon-
compliance procedure. The Chair invited Partiesto ask whether the
MCP srelationship to the settlement of disputesin FCCC Article 14
aroseat al, givenits“helpline” nature.

Delegates al so discussed a paragraph concerning the committee
mandate. It was agreed that the title should be changed to “Mandate of
the Committee.” Therewas significant debate on provision of assis-
tanceto Parties, including proposalsby CHINA, SWITZERLAND,
the EU and the US. SWITZERLAND agreed to go along with the EU
proposal that assistance should consist of advice and recommendations
ontechnical and financial aspects. The remaining proposalswill
appear inthe new compilation text. There was considerabl e debate on
therole of the COP.

On 30 July, AG13-5 considered the draft report to COP-3 (FCCC/
AG13/1997/CRP.2). The draft report states that the establishment of
any MCP must be within the framework of the FCCC. AG13'snext
session will consider whether to adjust itsframework draft text in light
of the AGBM negotiations. Parties decided to hold two more sessions
of six and eight meetingsto complete work before COP-4. The entire
framework text remainsin brackets.

In theintroductory paragraph the options describing the MCP
proceduresas“ad hoc” or “standing” remain in brackets. Each of the
proposals on objectives of the M CP, anew proposal on providing
consultative assistance to Parties, and elementsin the proposed
Mandate of the Committee are also bracketed. Decisions have also
been held over on questions of how issueswill betaken up by the MCP,
and whether one or more Partieswill beinvolved in making submis-
sions. In the Outcome section, a paragraph that would subject conclu-
sions and recommendations from the M CP to the consent of the Party
or Parties concerned remainsin brackets.

TheEU, supported by CHILE, SAUDI ARABIA and SWITZER-
LAND calledfor at least two more AG13 sessions, each lasting eight
half-days and, with KUWAIT and FRANCE, called for astronger
commitment to completion of work by COP-4. The USand CHINA
did not agree. Chair Szell modified the draft decision for COP-3
(FCCC/AG13/1997/CRP.2 Annex I11) to indicate that AG13 should
continue beyond the COP, invite AG13 to completeitswork by COP-4
and request it to report to COP-4 on progressif it failsto meet the
target date. He also amended the draft report (Organizational Matters)
toindicate that AG13 will require two further sessions each consisting
of about six to eight meetings.

Reviewing the draft compilation for aMultilateral Consultative
Process (MCP) (Annex 1), in aparagraph describing how issuesare to
betaken up, CHINA asked for there-insertion of areference, in
brackets, to consideration of any submission made by “aParty onits
own request.” KUWAIT, CHINA and SAUDI ARABIA questioned
the adeguacy of adecision to cross-reference this procedural para-
graphin an earlier paragraph on the Mandate of the Committee.

Rapporteur Andrej Kranjc (Slovenia) presented the draft report of
AG13-5for adoption. The Chair noted that detailed discussionswould
be needed at AG13-6 on: assistanceto Parties; the question of who can
trigger proceedings; and the implications of COP-3.

A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF THE AGBM

Now that AGBM-7 ishistory, many may ask if governmentsare
any closer to reaching agreement on strengthening the Framework
Convention on Climate Change. Alas, an assessment of just how much
was achieved is as open to interpretation as was the much disputed
status of Schubert’ s* unfinished symphony.” To make such an assess-
ment, three key questions were put to del egates and observers asthey
moved between the Beethoven, Schubert and Haydn Rooms at the
Maritim Hotel during AGBM-7: where did the movement or progress
occur inthisround of negotiations; what are the emerging linkages or
tradeoffs; and what are the key opportunitiesin the all-important forth-
coming intersessional period to advance the processto achieve an
outcome acceptableinthe eyes of the Parties.

THE AGBM’S SEVENTH MOVEMENT: In the absence of
initial formal proposalsfor emissionsreduction targetsby theUSand
Japan, there was awidespread sense that most of the progress achieved
at this session was limited to areduction in the number of proposalsin
Chair Estrada-Oyuela s negotiating text. One NGO hoped that Parties
might now begin to distance themselves from ownership of individual
proposals and recognize the Chair’ sforthcoming text at AGBM-8 as
more of acommon enterprise. Otherswerelessthan impressed. They
suggested that some negotiating positions had hardened while some
Parties, clearly determined to distance themselves from thewhole
process, had tabled unrealistic proposalsto cover their retreat.

Stepping tentatively toward negotiation, the US went some way
towards accepting, in principle, the so called European “ bubble’
concept, i.e. internally differentiating targetsfor emission reductions.
The EU madeit clear that they would accept trading if the level s of
targets agreed under the Berlin Mandate are “ adequate.” Another
development has been the shift in the OECD countries’ position on a
comprehensive approach. A majority of these countries now view the
multiple gases approach asaway of delivering stronger targets --
something they could not be confident about in regard to CO2. An
issuethat isnow likely to emergeisthe complexity of the monitoring
regimerequired. A “qualified comprehensive approach” may emerge,
with aninitial focusonindustrial gases. A third shift wasthe proposal
by Brazil, thefirst large developing country to envision afuturein
which all countries adopt new commitments and the first outside
AQOSISto discusstargets.

The EU’ sbid for aleadership role on strong targets along with poli-
ciesand measures was frustrated by the near absence of support from
other developed countries and the G-77. One observer’ sexplanation
for the absence of that support in the case of the G-77/CHINA referred
to Tanzania' sleadership role within the G-77/CHINA, compounded
by the political dynamicinthe group. The Tanzanian Chair, new to the
intergovernmental process but an expert in the issues, stuck hard and
fast to the group principlethat no position should be adopted where
one member dissents. This principle stemsfrom what has been
described as a“ false sense of brotherhood” defined by an unwavering



Page 13

(i_fm‘fh Negatiations Bulletin

Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

opposition to the OECD. Whoever manipul ates that opposition effec-
tively tendsto win out within the group. Thishelpsto explain theinflu-
ence of ahandful of countriesin the G-77/CHINA decision-making
process. Saudi Arabia, for example, reportedly managed to become
more entrenched than ever as akey player within the Group at this
session of the AGBM and was allowed to present the Group’ s position
on acouple of occasions.

Other key playersalso attracted criticism. Whilethe Clinton
administration has been moving toward a strong stand on climate
change policy, it has been reported that opponents of the administra-
tion “caused havoc” and even engaged in attemptsto undermine and
discredit the US delegation in Bonn. Theintense domestic political
battlesin the USwere, in effect, being played out around the edges of
the negotiations at the AGBM, hel ping to put the brakes on progress. A
remotely controlled intervention in the process came viathe Senate
resolution demanding that the US negotiatorsdig their heelsinto avoid
any unilateral commitments by industrialized countries. A co-sponsor
of theresolution, West VirginiaSenator Robert Byrd, privately lobbied
Chair Estradabut got short shrift.

An academic observer suggested that the G-77/China position had
hardened in responseto the Senate resolution and US callsfor an
evolutionary approach to the Berlin Mandate. He agreed with specula-
tion that this outcome was the objective of some sophisticated
lobbying by USindustrialists who were determined to attack the “ soft
underbelly,” of the process, i.e. exploiting the North-South tensions
and fears about losing jobs at home.

Thedomestic difficulties of the US are echoed somewhat in Japan.
Thelatter’ sdifficulties are compounded by the responsihbilitiesthat go
with playing host to amajor UN conference, a privilege which must
now appear to somein Tokyo as apoison chalice. Japan’s domestic
constituency isfor the most part in favor of astrong protocol. Initial
signalson Japanese targets -- proposal s permitting some devel oped
country emission increasestentatively floated in the corridors -- met
with ahostile reception from NGOs. One senior European observer
marked this down asanotable political development initself.
Observersfurther noted that thiskind of public pressurefrom NGOs
will be animportant element of remaining negotiations despite the
“lock-out” from formal meetings.

Political tensionsin Japan asto what type of targetsto support are
reflected in political divisions between Japanese government minis-
tries, with serious concern at the Ministry of International Trade and
Industry. The Prime Minister is expected to intervene soon to “knock
headstogether” to avoid an embarrassing struggle at Kyoto and --
aboveall -- to avoid surprises.

NORTH-SOUTH OVERTURES: Evenrabid “evolutionists’ do
not necessarily insist that the new devel oping country actionstake
place now, but that they must establish some mechanism that will
consider when those actions may occur and how they may be deter-
mined. Observers say that scheduled reviews of commitments under
the FCCC could provide avenue for considering devel oping country
actionsthat ispolitically linked to but formally separate from anew
protocol or legal instrument agreed in Kyoto. Thereview of annexesis
another tool cited by observers as ameans of extending the group of
countriestaking primary responsibility for FCCC commitments. Both
of these approaches could leave the onus of responsibility on Annex |
countrieswhile eventually answering the concern that all parties
participate. Presentation and appearance are often key to political
success, and the presentation of atwo-part package -- with the non-
Annex | Partieson board for Berlin Mandate - The Sequel -- could
offer asolution.

Inthisregard, some observerswere surprised to find that the US
had not pushed harder inits negotiationson Article 4.1. They
concluded that the del egation had decided to “ put most of their eggs
into another basket,” i.e. the demand for an evol utionary approach to
the Berlin Mandate (bringing devel oping countriesin sooner rather
than later), focusing on areview of the adequacy of commitmentsand
jointimplementation. Thismay explain Chair Estrada’ sdecisionto
avoid an “explosion” and leave evolution and review of adequacy out
of hisnegotiating text.

AN INSTRUMENT FOR FOUR SEASONS: The headline
issues of greenhouse gas emission targets and timetables are so far
untouchable, quietly muffled beneath the shade of the obscure term

“QELROs.” Thelack of specific target proposals from two of the
largest GHG producers places ahold on that aspect of the process. So
much so that the Chair of the QEL ROs non-group specul ated that an
attempt to address them might embarrass some Parties.

Whether policies and measures should be legally binding or not, is
another issue yet to beresolved. Although there are provisionsin the
current draft to the effect that Parties must draw up binding national
plansfor limiting and reducing anthropogenic emissions by sources
and enhancing removal by sinks, thereisadraft escape clause that
states: “ Partieswill continueto retain maximum flexibility in deciding
how best, based on their national circumstances, they can reach emis-
sion limitation/reduction objectives.” The ongoing debate over flexi-
bility resumesin the discussion of policiesand measures. There seems
to beatendency to accept that some P& Mswill be classified as manda
tory, but which ones, how many and other details arefar from clear.

Regarding whether objectives shall be achieved individually or
jointly, adistinction was established whereby commitmentswill be
met individually, but P& M’ s may be undertaken in acommon/coordi-
nated way. Further clarification will be needed on how the common/
coordinated approach will operate. A reference was madeto acoordi-
nation processto beinstituted under SBSTA to develop guidelinesfor
implementing the common measures set out in both mandatory and
high priority P& Ms. Theinclusion of an“Annex Q1" of countriesthat
areto take measuresto mitigate climate change hints at another route
toinclusion of non-Annex | Partiesin new commitments.

INTERLUDE: Theintersessional period |eading up to AGBM-8
in October and the period between AGBM-8 and COP-3 will undoubt-
edly assume unusual significance. Key eventsalong theway will bean
imminent intersessional meeting in Germany to be chaired by Estrada,
aWhite House meeting in October when targets may be announced, a
Japanese-hosted meeting for 10 Annex | Partiesin early September,
EU-UShilaterals, and a G-7+| meeting in November. Estradaisalso
expected to conduct other informal consultations.

REPRISE: Thereal world palitical and economic global order as
we enter the 21st century is more complex than it waswhen climate
change arrived on the political agenda-- afact that raisesall kinds of
contradictionsin the structure of the FCCC, not least the question of
whoreally belongsin Annex | and Annex |1 and the distribution of
responsibility. Weighed against that observation isthefact that debtsto
history -- notably the history of North-South relations and that of
industrial GHG emissions-- survive much longer than contemporary
economic trends.

While climate change is undoubtedly an environmental issue -- the
paramount issues at the AGBM areincreasingly exposed as questions
concerning the concealed political and economic costs of the industri-
alized world’ sfreeride to unsustainable development. Whether Berlin
Mandate negotiatorswill produce what one observer called “an impos-
siblemass’ toresolve at Kyoto, or the critical massto addressan
objectivetowhich all Parties have already committed, must become
clearer with the passing of the seasons.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR IN THE
INTERSESSIONAL PERIOD

FCCC SUBSIDIARY BODIES: The next sessions of the subsid-
iary bodies are scheduled to take place in Bonn from 20-31 October
1997. SBI and SBSTA will meet from 20-22 October and will hold
their final sessions during the second week. The remainder of thetime
will be devoted to AGBM. AG13 will not meet. Thethird Conference
of the Parties (COP-3) is scheduled for 1-10 December 1997 in Kyoto,
Japan. For all meetingsrelated to the FCCC, contact the secretariat in
Bonn, Germany; tel: +49-228-815-1000; fax: +49-228-815-1999; e-
mail: secretariat@unfccc.de. Also try the FCCC home page at http://
www.unfccc.de and UNEP' sInformation Unit for Conventions at
http://www.unep.ch/iuc.html.

TRAINING WORKSHOP ON PRESENTING NATIONAL
IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: The Training Workshop on
Presenting National Implementation Strategieswill be held from 25-
27 August 1997 in Lima, Peru. The objectiveisto prepare national



Vol. 12, No. 55 - 11 August 1997

ci_farr}e Negotiations Bulletin

Page 14

implementation strategies. For moreinformation contact Stephen
Gold, CC:TRAIN; tel: +41-22-733-1383; fax: +41-22-733-1383; e-
mail: sgold.unitar@unep.ch.

AFRICAN REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON THE PREPARA.-
TION OF INITIAL NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS: This
workshop will be held from 28-30 August 1997 in Dakar, Senegal. The
workshop, which will be held in English and French, will cover awide
range of Issues and focus on the specific and needs of African coun-
tries. Working Groupswill be established for different thematic areas.
For information contact: Y ouba Sokona, ENDA-Energy; tel: +221-
225-983; fax: +221-217-595.

US REGIONAL CLIMATE CHANGE WORKSHOPS:
Regional workshopswill examinethe vulnerabilities of various
regions of the USto climate variability and climate change and to
aggregate information across regions to support national-scale scien-
tific assessment. The New England Workshop will be held from 3-5
September 1997 in Durham, New Hampshire. For more information
contact: ClaraKustra; tel: +1-603-862-3484; fax: +1-603-862-1915; e-
mail: clara@unh.edu. Also try http://www.necci.sr.unh.edu/. The
Southwest Regional Workshop will be held from 3-4 September 1997
in Tucson, Arizona. For more information contact Jon Unruh; tel: +1-
520-621-7189; e-mail: unruhj@u.arizona.edu. Also try: http://
vpr2.admin.arizona.edu/udall_center/CLIMATE.HTM. The National
Workshop on Climate Change Impactswill be held from 10-12
November 1997 in Washington, DC.

TRAINING WORKSHOP ON PRESENTING NATIONAL
IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: The Training Workshop on
Presenting National Implementation Strategieswill be held from 15-
19 September 1997 in Senegal. The objectiveisto train participantsto
prepare national implementation strategies. For moreinformation
contact Stephen Gold, CC:TRAIN; tel: +41-22-733-1383; fax: +41-
22-733-1383; e-mail: sgold.unitar@unep.ch.

REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON CLEAN ENERGY TECH-
NOLOGIES, PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND FINANCE FOR
ECONOMIES IN TRANSITION: Thisworkshop, scheduled from
22-26 September 1997 in Budapest, Hungary, will provideaforumfor
the facilitation of projects on greenhouse gas mitigation technologies
between energy efficiency and renewable energy project developers
and the international financial community. For information contact:
Christopher Bordeaux; tel: +1-202-586-3070; fax: +1-202-586-3485/
3486; e-mail: christopher.bordeaux @hqg.doe.gov.

KLIMA ‘97 LEIPZIG: This conference and tradefair, scheduled
from 25-28 September 1997 in L eipzig, Germany, encompasses all
technical, scientific, economic and social measuresrelating to the
protection and preservation of the climate. For information contact:
Ingomar Brandl, UTEC International Kongress-und Ausstellungs-
Service GmbH, Hainstrasse 16, D-04109 L eipzig; tel: + 49-341- 960-
6797; fax + 49-341-960 6798.

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS TRADING MEETING:
The OECD Environmental Directorate will hold ameeting to discuss
“International Greenhouse Gas Emission Trading” from 29-30
September 1997 in Paris. For moreinformation contact the OECD; tel:
+33-01-45-24-82-00; fax: +33-01-45-24-85-00; e-mail:
news.contact@oecd.org. Also try http://www.oecd.org/.

LATIN AMERICAN REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON PREPA-
RATION OF NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS: Thisworkshop
will beheldinltaipu, Brazil, from 30 September - 2 October 1997 and
will be held in Spanish and Portuguese. It will include individual
country presentations on the status of the preparation of national
communications and include rapporteurs reporting back on thematic
issuesfor group discussions. For more information contact: John
O’ Brien, UNDP/GEF in New Y ork; tel: +1-212-906-6033; fax: +1-
212-908-6998.

TRAINING WORKSHOP ON PREPARING IMPLEMEN-
TATION STRATEGIES: The Training Workshop on Preparing
National |mplementation Strategieswill be held from 29 September - 3
October 1997 in Benin. Other training workshopswill be held in Chad
from 20-24 October 1997 and in Boliviafrom 5-7 November 1997.
Theobjectivesisto train participantsto prepare national implementa-
tion strategies. For more information contact Stephen Gold,
CC:TRAIN; tel: +41-22-733-1383; fax: +41-22-733-1383; e-mail:
sgold.unitar@unep.ch

INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON ENERGY AND
THE ENVIRONMENT, EFFICIENT UTILIZATION OF
ENERGY AND WATER RESOURCES: This conferenceis sched-
uled from 12-14 October 1997 in Limassol, Cyprus. For information
contact: Dr. Savvas Tassou, Department of Mechanical Engineering,
Brunel University, Uxbridge, Middlesex, UB8 3PH, United Kingdom;
Fax: +44 (0)1895-256392; e-mail: savvas.tassou@brunel .ac.uk.

ASIA-PACIFIC INITIATIVE FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY
AND ENERGY EFFICIENCY ‘97: AsiaPacific Initiativefor
Renewable Energy & Energy Efficiency ‘97 will be held from 14-16
October 1997 in Jakarta, Indonesiaand is sponsored by Alternative
Development Asig; tel: +852-257-49133; fax: +852-257-41997; e-
mail: altdev@hk.spuer.net.

CONFERENCE ON CLIMATE CHANGE: The Conference
“Targeting Kyoto and Beyond,” sponsored by Climate Network
Europe (CNE), the Global L egislators Organization for aBalanced
Environment (GL OBE-EU) and Germanwatch, will be held from 16-
17 October 1997 at the Bundestag in Bonn, Germany. The Conference
will feature a parliamentarians workshop, aministerial panel and a
business roundtable. For information contact: CNE; tel: +32-2-231-
01-80; fax: +32-2-230-57-13; e-mail: canron@gn.apc.org.

CLIMATE-L

An E-mail List for the UNFCCC Process

Thelnternational Institute for Sustainable Development
(11SD), publisher of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin, is pleased to
announce anew e-mail distribution list intended to facilitate
information exchange on the UN Framework Convention on
Climate Change process.

CLIMATE-L isamoderated list for the dissemination of
news, information on past and upcoming meetingsrelated to the
UNFCCC, copies of position papers and pointersto on-line
resources such as WWW sites and longer documents.

CLIMATE-L isintended to be avery focused list with short
messages and messages with linksto other on-line documents. If
you wish, it ispossible to configure your subscription to the
digested version so that you receive only one e-mail message per
week fromthelist.

To subscribe send a messageto listproc@mbnet.mb.cawith
thefollowing in the body of the message:

subscribe CLIMATE-L [your name]

Subscribers can send mail to theentirelist at
CLIMATE-L @mbnet.mb.ca

For assistancein subscribing or for further information
contact us at enb@iisd.org




